The Impact of Local Labour Market Factors on the Organisation and Delivery of Health Services

Report to the National Co-ordinating Centre for NHS Service Delivery and Organisation R & D (NCCSDO)

November 2003

prepared by

Bob Elliott, Anthony Scott, Diane Skåtun, Shelley Farrar and Moira Napper

Health Economics Research Unit, University of Aberdeen

Address for correspondence

Professor Bob Elliott Health Economics Research Unit Institute of Applied Health Sciences University of Aberdeen Polwarth Building Foresterhill Aberdeen AB25 2ZD E-mail: belliott@heru.abdn.ac.uk Telephone: 01224 553733

Contents

Acknowledgements	3
Executive Summary	
Key themes and findings	4
The Report	
Section 1 Background	7
Section 2 Aims and key issues	9
2.1 Aims	9
2.2 Key issues	9
Section 3 Methods	12
3.1 Criteria	12
3.2 Interviews	12
Section 4 Results	22
4.1 A framework for understanding the link between compe local labour markets and service delivery	tition in 22
4.2 Literature reviews	26
4.3 Results from interviews.	38
Section 5 Research agenda	47
5.1 Research questions	47
Section 7 References	50
Section 8 Bibliography	55
- <i>u</i>	

Appendices

Appendix 1 Semi-structured interview schedule	62
Appendix 2 Examples of individual bibliographic database search strategies	64
Appendix 3 Literature reviewed	65

Acknowledgements

Research assistance was provided by Divine Ikenwilo, research fellow at the University of Aberdeen.

Executive Summary

Key themes and findings

Workforce issues are a key aspect of policy and service delivery in the National Health Service (NHS). Understanding the nature of the local labour markets in which NHS organisations operate and the competitiveness of the NHS within these markets is critical for service delivery.

The aim of this scoping study is to document our current understanding of the competitiveness of the NHS within local labour markets. In particular, to document the different types of responses NHS organisations use in response to labour market conditions, to document best practice in other sectors, and to document the impact on service delivery and organisation. Gaps in current knowledge are then used to map a research agenda.

Interviews were conducted in ten sites across the UK, selected on the basis of their different experiences of recruitment and retention problems and geographical diversity. This included interviews with two workforce development confederations (WDCs), six NHS trusts in England, one NHS trust in Wales and one in Scotland.

Three areas of the literature were also reviewed. The first was the general economics literature comparing the competitiveness of the public and private sectors. The second was the literature on the competitiveness of the NHS both between different parts of the NHS and with other sectors. The third area of literature examined the experiences of the non-NHS and private sectors.

The analysis of the interviews and the literature was based on four criteria that were used to select studies and to place the interview data and literature into themes. These were:

- NHS competitiveness
- local flexibility
- responses to local labour market conditions
- the impact on service delivery and organisation.

A framework for understanding the link between local labour markets and service delivery was also proposed. This included the local market as a source of supply of labour for the NHS; the influence of the local labour market on the pay and conditions of staff as a way to recruit and retain staff, including those working in national labour markets (for example doctors), and the influence of the local labour market on

the pattern of demand for health services and therefore for different types of skills.

The small empirical literature on the competitiveness of the public and private sectors reveals substantial differentials in pay between sectors, such that the public sector underpays in the low amenity and high cost areas, such as London and the South East, and overpays in the high amenity and low cost areas such as the Cornwall. The use of different datasets reveals different patterns, and further research is required here.

There are surprisingly few studies of local pay flexibility in the private sector. A recent review of a number of the largest private sector organisations with a UK-wide workforce showed that though they too used national rates of pay, they employed a wider variety of different systems to geographically differentiate pay than does the NHS. National bargaining in the private sector has declined steeply in the last 20 years and a more decentralised approach to pay setting has been adopted.

The literature review revealed wide-ranging empirical evidence from the NHS. Forty four studies were included that addressed the criteria. There was some evidence on the relative attractiveness of jobs, but few of these studies explicitly compared across jobs with different employers. Little evidence existed on the role of local flexibility. There were a number of studies reporting details of NHS organisations' responses to shortages that listed a wide variety of local policies and interventions. However, there were no systematic and rigorous evaluations of such interventions. There appeared to be no studies that rigorously evaluated the impact on service delivery and organisation.

The interviews suggested that the nature and characteristics of the local labour market (for example ethnic composition, socio-economic status and geography) were crucial in shaping trusts' responses to shortages and in turn their competitiveness, but often they had not been able to develop policies to respond appropriately to these external factors.

NHS trusts seemed more likely to compete with each other rather than with other sectors, and here WDCs could play a role in reducing the negative effects of this. Relative pay was mentioned most frequently as a critical determinant of the attractiveness of NHS nursing jobs, though this was largely in the context of nursing agencies. The role of other non-pay factors in attracting and retaining staff appeared to be very important but from the literature this was less clear. Trusts also competed on the basis of their reputation, particularly for medical staff, where this was related to teaching status and the advantages that status afforded, and to new capital developments.

Some trusts had used local flexibility in setting pay and conditions, but many seemed reluctant to use these avenues although an

understanding of the reasons for this did not emerge from either the interviews or literature review.

Trusts responded to shortages by participating in national initiatives, such as international recruitment, although a few had also developed their own initiatives including training and job enhancement.

The effects of shortages on the quantity and quality of health care were reported by a number of trusts. These included cancelled operations, longer waiting times because of shortages of staff in diagnostic areas, dissatisfaction and low morale, and a high rate of sickness absence. The speed of service development was also compromised. Trusts mentioned the necessity to share services and work in partnership with other trusts.

The study concludes that overall there is an absence of high quality empirical evidence and a marked lack of primary data collection. There have been no rigorous evaluations of the costs and benefits of the myriad of policy interventions that exist to address recruitment and retention. Those studies that exist have been small and the results are not generalisable. Human resources directors in the NHS seem to have little data or rigorous evidence on which to base their decisions.

Research should focus on specific staff groups within the NHS: medical and nursing staff are a priority because of their centrality to service delivery but allied health professionals, radiology and diagnostic services, pathology, and anaesthesia require analysis for they are fundamental to the speed of throughput.

Two broad themes of research are proposed. First, how competitive are NHS pay and conditions compared to other areas of employment and other careers? Second, what are the costs and benefits of policies and interventions - including changes in service delivery - to increase recruitment and retention and influence the labour market decisions of NHS staff? The study details the research questions underpinning these and outlines appropriate methods of research.

The Report

Section 1 Background

The NHS is the largest single employer in the UK, accounting for nearly 5% of all employees. The highly diverse workforce has a presence in every labour market and in many of these markets it is the largest single employer. The combination of substantial geographical diversity and occupational mix sets the NHS apart from other employers and presents a formidable challenge to the organisation. The NHS must devise pay and reward structures that efficiently recruit, retain and motivate employees in the many different labour markets in which it operates. These markets vary between staff groups and are local, national and international. Local markets are a critical source of supply of a majority of the staff the NHS employs while conditions in local markets have an important influence on the ability of local NHS trusts to attract and retain those they recruit from national and international markets. The responsiveness of local trusts to changing conditions in the local labour market is thus a key to ensuring the delivery of high quality and efficient patient care.

Workforce issues are central to delivery of improved levels and quality of NHS services. The Wanless Report, *Securing our Future Health: Taking a long-term view* (2002) set out ambitious plans for a dramatic increase in the level of spending on the NHS over the next ten and 20 years. Underpinning the Wanless method of identifying the required level of spending is a prominent recognition that desired standards will be obtainable only if the NHS is able to recruit and retain the required medical and nursing staff.

The NHS plan (Department of Health, 2000) identifies three key workforce issues:

- 1 investment in staff improvements in both the number and quality of staff
- 2 changes in the NHS skill mix
- 3 working practices (a prominent feature is task reassignment between and among different branches of the medical workforce and between the medical and the nursing workforces).

The plan emphasises the critical role of pay structures and of the local variations in these as presently mapped in the NHS market forces factor and associated supplements.

Local flexibility in public sector wage setting has also recently been emphasised by the Treasury. In the April 2003 budget statement (HM

Treasury, 2003) the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced that public sector pay arrangements, including those of the review body groups, should include a greater local and regional dimension. For most groups of public sector staff there would be a stronger focus on the responsiveness of pay to local and regional conditions. The Treasury has declared that the purpose of the policy is to improve service delivery. In parallel with this development new incentives and new pay structures have been developed, for example the new contract for consultants and GPs from 2004. For non-medical staff the Agenda for Change policy (see for example Department of Health, 2003a) proposes a new integrated pay structure, underpinned by a system of job evaluation. The European working time directive will also influence the ability of NHS employers to respond to shortages.

A feature of the NHS plan is recognition of the need to understand the motivations of NHS staff. This again emerges as a prominent concern in a national 'listening exercise' with NHS stakeholders (Cherry and Anderson, 2002), the report of which recognises the need to understand and define staff expectations and emphasises the need to learn how other sectors of the economy deal with staff shortage and adjust to differences in local market conditions. The establishment of the 24 WDCs in England is further and explicit recognition of the importance of local labour markets and the local health economy. Similar developments are also occurring elsewhere in the UK and devolution presents new challenges. Where the devolved territories construct different contractual arrangements for their staff and NHS structures begin to differ between the devolved territories, this will introduce a new dynamic into the flows of staff between them.

Section 2 Aims and key issues

- 2.1 Aims
- 2.2 Key issues

2.1 Aims

The purpose of this scoping study is to present a clearer picture of our current understanding of the nature and impact of geographical and occupational labour market diversity on NHS service delivery. There are a number of objectives to this scoping exercise:

- 1 to clearly set out our current understanding of the competitiveness of the NHS in the local labour markets for each staff group in the UK
- 2 to detail the completeness of this understanding by identifying the strengths and weaknesses of the theoretical and empirical methods on which this understanding is based
- 3 to identify the different types of responses available to local employers as they react to changes in local labour market conditions, and examine evidence about the extent to which these responses are used
- 4 to identify best practice in other parts of the public and private sectors and the generalisability of this practice to the NHS
- 5 to identify the gaps in our knowledge and detail the key methodological challenges - both theoretical and empirical – involved in improving our knowledge
- 6 to map out the future research agenda.

2.2 Key issues

A central thrust to current labour market policy in the UK is the need to ensure flexibility; flexibility of response to differences in the initial labour market conditions and flexibility of response to anticipated and unanticipated changes in those conditions. In the public sector the focus of recent policy has been upon the development of systems that respond more flexibly to differences in local labour markets. Key to this exercise is an understanding of the nature of the labour markets in which the NHS operates. Thus in the section reporting results we first establish a framework for understanding the labour markets in which the NHS operate. We establish:

• A clear and concise conceptual framework for the review. This is in order to identify more effectively the key differences in the nature of the labour markets and the underlying dynamics and behaviour of these markets. The NHS competes for staff in several different occupational markets and many different local labour markets. It is important to distinguish between labour markets that are largely internal to the NHS, those for medical staff, and external markets in which the NHS competes for staff with other employers. Examples of the latter are the markets for nurses, allied health professionals, managerial, administrative, clerical and ancillary staff.

The defining characteristics of the labour markets in which the NHS operates. The spatial, geographical, dimensions to these markets will be critical and will vary by staff group. The level of education, the type of training and the gender composition of the group are key determinants of the geographical scope of the local labour markets. This will enable us to define the parameters along which the NHS interacts with these markets.

The following list of issues will then form the basis of criteria that will be used to structure the literature review and interviews.

- What is known about the competitiveness of the pay and conditions offered by the NHS in the different markets? How are and might competitors be defined? In what way does the compensation package offered by the NHS differ from that offered by competitors? How different is the employment and compensation package offered by the NHS - pay, hours, conditions of service, pension - from those offered by other employers? One aspect of this is any existing evidence on geographical pay differences in the NHS and in the public and private sectors. How might this research be developed to reveal the structure of geographical pay differences for each major group of NHS employees? How much does the pay offered by the NHS differ from that offered by the private health care sector in these local markets? What data sets are available to explore this issue and what are their relative merits? A further aspect of this is our current knowledge of the expectations of staff and the relative values that they place on different aspects of the compensation package offered by the NHS and its competitors. Which of these elements offer scope for local flexibility?
- 2 What is known about the extent of local flexibility? Do national rates of pay offer any scope for aligning rates of pay with local market conditions? Will the national system of job evaluation which underpins the Agenda for Change policy increase or diminish this flexibility? The pay of both nurses and medical staff is determined by review bodies, the review bodies establish national, UK-wide, rates of pay. How much scope do these agreements offer for local variations in pay for each of these groups? Where they offer such possibilities do human resource managers, and others concerned with pay setting at the local level, use these opportunities to move rates of pay closer to those paid in the local market?

- 3 What is the range of behavioural responses that local NHS employers can use to address local labour market conditions? This requires a review of the ways in which the NHS locally has dealt with shortages or surpluses. How do the strategies for recruitment and retention differ between parts of the NHS based in different localities? What is the success of these strategies and those used in the private sector and how do these vary between local labour markets?
- 4 Finally, how have the responses of local NHS employers influenced the organisation and delivery of care? How have they substituted one type of staff for another? Has service provision been integrated with other local NHS and non-NHS employers? Have they replaced in house provision with external contractors? How has the performance of the NHS employer been affected by these changes?

Section 3 Methods

- 3.1 Criteria
- 3.2 Interviews
- 3.3 Literature review

The issues listed in Section 2 have led us to distinguish four key criteria for classifying and analysing both the interview data and the literature reviewed. Interviews with a sample of NHS personnel and a review of the published and grey literatures have been used to examine current evidence of the extent to which the above issues have been addressed.

3.1 Criteria

The four criteria that were used to classify and analyse the literature and interview data were:

1 NHS competitiveness

Does the interviewee or the literature describe and evaluate the competitiveness of the NHS compared to other employers in terms of differences in the compensation package, working conditions and job satisfaction?

2 Local flexibility

Does the interviewee or the literature identify and analyse local flexibility to change pay and working conditions and/or do they mention the rigidities imposed by national pay structures and policies? Where flexibility exists do they evaluate its impact and effectiveness?

3 Responses to local labour market conditions

Does the interviewee or the literature examine local NHS responses to changes in labour market conditions and their costs and effects?

4 Impact on service delivery and organisation

Does the interviewee or the literature examine the relationship between local labour market conditions and service delivery, the organisation of care or productivity?

3.2 Interviews

Semi-structured interviews were conducted in ten organisations, including two WDCs and eight NHS hospital trusts. Six NHS trusts were in England, one was in Scotland and one was in Wales. It was important to include a Great Britain dimension as doctors and specialist non-medical staff operate in national labour markets. We interviewed the chief executives or their deputies in the two WDCs and the directors of human resources or their equivalents (sometimes medical and nursing directors) in each NHS trust.

We used two sets of data to select the two WDCs and the eight NHS trusts. The first was existing evidence of the structure of regional wage differentials. The second was the recorded level of vacancies for qualified nurses and medical and dental staff as reported in the surveys of vacancies compiled by the health departments in England, Scotland and Wales. The former helped identify areas of the country in which it is likely that the pay offered by the NHS differs substantially from prevailing market rates. The second helped us identify trusts with apparently different recruitment and retention problems. In addition to using vacancy and regional wage differential data, we also reflected the geographical distribution and the urban and rural location of the British population.

3.2.1 Selection of interviewees on the basis of evidence of regional pay differences.

Average pay in the private sector, once standardised to take account of differences in the types of jobs people do in different areas of the three countries and the different skills people living in the different areas possess, exhibits substantial regional variation (see Section 4.2.1). In contrast it would seem that the pay structures for the two key professional groups in the NHS, doctors and nurses, exhibit relatively little regional variation. It is thus likely that the gap between what the NHS pays these two staff groups and what the private sector pays for broadly equivalent skills will itself exhibit substantial regional variation. In areas of the country in which the private sector pays a substantial premium, London, the NHS is likely to underpay, and in areas in which the private sector pays the lowest rates, Devon and Cornwall, the NHS is likely to overpay.

Section 4.2.1 reveals substantial geographical variation in rates of pay in the private sector in the UK. It reveals that pay in the private sector is lowest in Cornwall and Devon and highest in London. Accordingly we chose a trust from Cornwall and a trust from London.

3.2.2 Selection of interviewees on the basis of vacancy data

Data on vacancy rates for medical and dental staff and for qualified nurses is available for England from the *Survey of Vacancies* conducted by the Department of Health (Department of Health, 2002). For Scotland and Wales, similar data on vacancies are available. High and persistent vacancy rates suggest that a trust is not competing effectively for labour in the local market, while rising vacancy rates suggest that the position is deteriorating, and declining vacancy rates that the trust has improved competitiveness. We analysed the data for the four years to 2002 to try to discern recent trends and patterns in vacancy rates of this type.

Table 1 reports vacancy rates by region for the four years up to and including 2002, the last year available when compiling this report. The data reveals that the pattern of medical and dental vacancies differs substantially from that for qualified nurses. For qualified nurses, London and the South of England had the highest vacancies in each one of the four years and thus over the four years as a whole. In contrast vacancies for medical and dental staff were highest over the four-year period in the Northern and Yorkshire area. Table 1 also reveals that the vacancy rate for medical and dental staff in England has been rising steadily over the four-year period. The vacancy rates for medical and dental staff increased continuously over the period, in particular in the Northern and Yorkshire area, the West Midlands and the South East. In contrast, nursing vacancy rates peaked in 2000 in all but one area (the North West, where the rate peaked in 2001) and have since been falling. Again, with the exception of the North West, vacancy rates for nurses were lower in all areas in 2002 than in 2000.

All medical and dental staff	2002	2001	2000	1999	Average
An medical and dental staff	%	%	%	%	Average
England	3.7	3.0	2.6	1.9	2.8
Northern and Yorkshire	4.6	3.8	3.4	1.8	3.4
Trent	3.7	3.0	1.9	2.3	2.7
West Midlands	4.6	3.3	2.7	2.0	3.2
North West	3.7	3.6	2.5	2.7	3.1
Eastern	3.3	2.8	3.0	1.5	2.7
London	4.2	3.1	3.3	2.0	3.2
South East	2.8	2.3	1.8	1.4	2.1
South West	2.7	1.7	1.9	1.7	2.0
Qualified nurses					
England	3.1	3.4	3.9	2.8	3.3
London	6.1	6.4	7.4	5.5	6.3
South East	4.0	4.5	4.9	3.8	4.3
Eastern	3.8	3.0	4.9	2.5	3.6
West Midlands	1.7	3.0	3.5	2.6	2.7
North West	2.2	2.4	2.0	1.8	2.1
South West	2.2	2.3	2.5	1.4	2.1
Northern and Yorkshire	1.8	2.1	2.4	1.9	2.0
Trent	1.8	1.6	1.9	1.4	1.7

Table 1 Vacancy rates by region (1999 to 2002)

Source: Department of Health Vacancies Survey 2002. Notes: Health authority figures are based on NHS trusts, and do not necessarily reflect the geographical provision of healthcare; percentages rounded to one decimal place; * = figures where staff in post and number of vacancies are less than 10

More disaggregated data is available for this period but this is still classified by the health authority areas that existed before the creation of the 27 strategic health authorities (SHAs) and primary care trusts (PCTs). We distinguished the ten health authorities which had experienced the highest vacancy rates on average over the four-year period for medical and dental staff and qualified nurses. These are reported in Tables 2 and 3 respectively.

The more detailed data in Table 2 reveals a very mixed picture of geographic shortage among medical and dental staff. Northern health authorities, together with several from London, feature prominently among those which have experienced the highest vacancy rates. Health authorities in Yorkshire and Derbyshire are also listed. Table 3 in contrast reveals a much clearer picture for qualified nurses. For this professional group the highest vacancy rates are concentrated in London and the South East. We used this data to select both the WDCs and the trusts we would interview.

Workforce development confederations

WDCs have been established in England to ensure that the programme for creating an integrated approach to developing the workforce needs of the health and social care sector is driven forward at a local level. They were established in April 2001, each one is co-terminus with a SHA, and there are now 27 WDCs in England. We chose to interview personnel at two WDCs.

First we chose the WDC which featured most prominently in Table 2, which covered the largest number of health authorities listed in the top ten in Table 2 (this was Northern England WDC which covers both Northumberland and Gateshead and South Tyneside). We also selected the WDC which covered the largest number of health authorities appearing in the top ten in Table 3 (this was South East London WDC which covers Bexley, Bromley and Greenwich and the Bromley health authority, both of which appear in the top 10 in Table 3 and, it should be noted in Table 2). We interviewed both WDCs.

Health authority	2002 %	2001 %	2000 %	1999 %	Average %
1 Bromley		9.8	10.8	4.3	8.3
2 Walsall	12.5	3.7	4.2	7.5	7.0
3 Northumberland	7.7	9.3	4.9	5.3	6.8
4 Bury and Rochdale	8.1	5.8	5.6	6.0	6.4
5 Barking and Havering	6.7	4.6	9.1	4.8	6.3
6 Bexley, Bromley and Greenwich	7.4	7.0	5.1	3.5	5.8
7 Gateshead and South Tyneside	7.1	2.9	5.8	5.5	5.3
8 County Durham and Darlington	6.8	5.7	4.1	4.6	5.3
9 West Pennine	4.8	5.0	5.0	5.6	5.1
10 Redbridge and Waltham Forest	8.2	5.3	3.5	2.6	4.9

Table 2 The ten health authorities with the highest vacancy rates:medical and dental

NHS hospital trusts

Bromley NHS Trust appears at the top of Tables 2 and 3 and we therefore interviewed a hospital from within the Bromley Health Authority. This appeared from the data to be the area experiencing the most acute recruitment and retention problems for both types of staff. This offered the further advantage that it would enable us to contrast and compare the perspective of a trust and its WDC.

We then did a further cut of the data to distinguish those health authorities in which the vacancy problem had grown steadily more severe over the period and those in which it had grown steadily less severe. We identified all those health authorities which had experienced continually rising vacancy rates for staff and all those health authorities which had experienced continually falling vacancy rates for staff. Sixteen health authorities had experienced steadily rising vacancy rates for medical and dental staff and the ten with the highest average vacancy rates over the period are listed in Table 4. Only six health authorities had experienced steadily rising vacancy rates for qualified nurses and these are listed in Table 5. No health authorities had experienced continually falling vacancy rates for medical and dental staff and only two for qualified nursing staff, the latter are listed in Table 6.

Health authority	2002	2001	2000	1999	Average
1 Bromley		10.9	13.3	5.7	10.0
2 East London and the City	4.5	7.0	8.7	10.6	7.7
3 Lambeth, Southwark, Lewisham	9.7	8.8	7.6	3.7	7.4
4 East and North Hertfordshire	8.6	6.2	8.6	5.7	7.3
5 Croydon	3.5	3.5	6.2	14.4	6.9
6 Kensington, Chelsea, Westminster	5.5	7.5	10.8	3.7	6.9
7 Camden and Islington	6.0	4.8	9.7	6.3	6.7
8 Bexley, Bromley and Greenwich	6.8	8.2	5.0	6.7	6.7
9 West Hertfordshire		6.6	8.3	5.0	6.6
10 West Surrey	8.5	2.7	6.1	8.0	6.3

Table 3 The ten health authorities with the highest vacancy rates:qualified nurses

We selected three further trusts for interview from among this group. First we selected a trust from a health authority in which the vacancy problem for medical staff had grown worse over the recent period. Since the first listed in Table 4 is the Bexley, Bromley and Greenwich, covered by the South East London WDC (which we had already interviewed), we selected a trust from the second - Redbridge and Waltham Forest. We also interviewed a trust from a health authority in which the vacancy problem for qualified nurses had steadily increased over the period. The health authority at the top of Table 5 is again located in South London, an area in which we were already holding interviews. We therefore chose a trust from the area covered by the second listed health authority - Berkshire. This is also an area contiguous to London and offered the additional characteristic of a fringe area to London, one likely to be adversely affected by the additional allowances that can be paid to nurses in London.

No health authorities experienced consistently falling vacancy rates for medical staff but two experienced consistently decreasing vacancy rates for qualified nurses. One of these, North and Mid Hampshire was located close to other health authorities which were characterised by high vacancies and indeed it was close to Berkshire which had experienced steadily increasing vacancies. We interviewed a trust from this authority in order to discover how they had managed to steadily reduce vacancy rates in an area of tight labour markets.

To obtain appropriate geographical coverage we also chose trusts from Wales and Scotland (from Glasgow and Glamorgan respectively). These areas were selected for the relatively high vacancy rates. Finally we sought first to interview a hospital in a remote and rural area with no provision for doctor or nurse training, we chose a hospital in Cornwall, and a trust from a large metropolitan area other than London. In the latter case, we were looking for a trust which operated in a labour market which had traditionally been a prominent supplier of skills to the manufacturing sector. We conjectured that the training base might not have fully adjusted to meet modern service demand. We thought it likely that such a trust might be located in a deprived inner city area which might be thought unattractive to staff. To capture the impact of this dimension, the last trust we chose was in Manchester.

Health authority	Increase over:					
	2002 %	2001 %	2000 %	1999 %	Avg %	
Bexley, Bromley and Greenwich	7.4	0.4	1.9	1.6	5.8	
Redbridge and Waltham Forest	8.2	2.9	1.8	0.9	4.9	
Wakefield	7.7	3.5	0.3	2.4	4.4	
Wolverhampton	10.2	5.2	3.2	1.7	4.3	
Tees	7.3	3.5	2.6	0.4	3.3	
South Staffordshire	6.4	3.4	1.0	1.2	3.1	
Norfolk	4.0	0.4	2.3	0.0	2.5	
Leeds	3.5	1.0	0.8	0.9	2.1	
Salford and Trafford	6.6	5.3	0.7	0.6	2.1	
North Derbyshire	4.9	4.1	0.0	0.8	1.6	

Table 4 Health authorities with consistently increasing vacancy rates formedical and dental staff

Note: There are no health authorities with a consistent declining trend in vacancy rates for medical and dental.

Table 5 Health authorities with consistently increasing vacancy rates forqualified nurses

Health authority	Increase over:				
	2002 %	2001 %	2000 %	1999 %	Average %
Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham	9.7	0.9	1.2	3.9	7.4
Berkshire	5.0	0.3	0.2	1.5	4.3
West Kent	5.8	0.8	1.4	2.8	3.8
East Riding and Hull	3.5	0.2	2.6	0.0	2.1
South Lancashire	4.1	1.3	2.0	0.4	2.0
Sunderland	1.2	0.8	0.1	0.3	0.5

Health authority		_ ,			
	2002 %	2001 %	2000 %	1999 %	Average %
East London and the City	4.5	-2.5	-1.7	-1.9	7.7
North and Mid Hampshire	2.0	-2.9	-0.3	-0.9	4.6

Table 6 Health authorities with consistently decreasing vacancy rates for total qualified nurses.

Analysis of interviews

A semi-structured interview schedule was used, which was modified slightly for the interviews with the WDCs (Appendix 1). The interviews with the WDCs were conducted by two interviewers working together. The remaining eight interviews were split between the two. All interviews were taped and transcribed. Both interviewers coded sections of text of each interview using the four criteria, then checked each others' codings for consistency. Within each criterion, sections of text were organised into common themes.

Literature review

Three areas of the literature were searched and reported separately. The first was the general economics literature comparing levels of public and private sector pay across geographical areas. This literature is key in determining the pay differentials between these sectors, and therefore the extent of competition between these sectors in geographical areas and local labour markets. It is important to examine the extent to which this could be applied to the labour markets for health care personnel. This literature is small and well known by the grantholders, and so their expert knowledge was used to identify these studies.

The second area of literature was that reporting practice within the NHS, and comparing the NHS with other sectors. A literature search was undertaken to identify relevant material (published or unpublished) covering a period of ten years (1992 to July 2003). Given the nature of the topic, a range of bibliographic databases were used covering the economic and management literature as well as the fields of medicine, health care and social science. Particular attention was paid to the identification of grey literature through utilisation of sources such as the Health Management Information Consortium Database, specialist library catalogues (for example NHS Scotland Health Management Library), and Internet searching. Internet searching used an algorithmic search engine (Google) as well as visiting known sites of relevance such as Incomes Data Services and the King's Fund.

This was supplemented by the third area of the literature review, additional searches in the non-NHS and private sectors that may be applicable to the health sector. These were carried out on appropriate databases, such as the Social Science Citation Index and EconLIT (and are marked with a * in Table 7).

The table below lists the bibliographic databases searched. Individual search strategies were formulated using a combination of controlled vocabulary terms, where available, and free text terms. Examples of search strategies used may be found in the Appendix 2. The number retrieved for each database includes duplicates of references that may be indexed in more than one database. This accounts for the relatively low number of selected references from some databases.

A number of specific websites were also searched.

- Incomes Data Services
- The King's Fund
- Institute of Employment Studies
- Scottish Executive Health Department
- Department of Health
- UNISON
- NHS Alliance
- NHS Confederation
- NHS Electronic Library for Health
- Chartered Society of Physiotherapy
- Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists
- Institute of Chiropodists and Podiatrists
- British Dietetic Association
- British Association/College of Occupational Therapists

Table 7 Databases searched in the second and third parts of theliterature review

Database	Retrieved	Selected
Health Management Information Consortium (HMIC)	492	57
Cumulative Index of Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL)	234	16
MEDLINE	103	17
EMBASE	12	9
Applied Social Sciences Index and Abstracts (ASSIA)	238	5
Social Science Citation Index	141(105)*	21(1)
British Nursing Index	91(177)	1
EconLIT	31	6
ABI Inform	12	3

* Denotes additional searches in the non-NHS and private sectors.

Analysis and summary of literature

As a result of these searches, 139 articles, books, working papers, papers and reports were selected for further review. The literature to be included in the final review was then selected according to the four criteria (section 4.1) and the quality of the studies. There are no standard checklists for examining the quality of the literature in this area, and so the quality of the literature was judged by reference to robust academic criteria: peer review; the quality of the data employed; the robustness of the empirical methods employed; sample size and representativeness. The Cochrane Reviewers' Handbook (version 4.2.0; Clarke and Oxman, 2003). was also used to help assess quality. This included the application of criteria such as validity and design characteristics that influence interpretation of results. The results of each study were summarised within staff group according to their setting, study design, type of data used, results and conclusions. Results were also summarised under each of the four criteria.

Section 4 Results

4.1 A framework for understanding the link between competition in local labour markets and service delivery

4.1.1 Local labour markets and service delivery

The local labour market has a fundamental impact on service delivery for three main reasons:

- 1 First and foremost the local market is the primary source of supply of the majority of labour used by the NHS: the overwhelming majority of ancillary, clerical, administrative and nursing staff working in the NHS have been supplied by the local market.
- Even where staff such as doctors, other senior clinical professionals and managers are recruited from national and even international labour markets, the local market will impact upon service delivery because it will determine the level of remuneration that needs to be offered to attract these staff to an area.
- 3 It is one of the determinants of the pattern of demand for local health services, and therefore the demand for different types of skills.

To explore the link between the local labour market and service delivery, an economist would use a relevant theoretical framework such as the 'production function'. A production function specifies the relationship between inputs to a production process and the outputs from that process. The main inputs are labour, capital and technology. In the case of the NHS the outputs are complex and multi-dimensional and range from intermediate outputs, such as number of cases treated, through measures of the process of care that patients value (such as waiting times), to measures of health outcome.

Changing the quantities of labour and capital will change the amount of output produced. The amount of output produced will also change if the efficiency with which the inputs are used changes. The efficiency with which inputs (including labour) are used is determined by the present state of technology and the rules and regulations which determine how this technology may be used. In the NHS this dimension is critical.

The output of the NHS is complex and is produced through the cooperation of many different types of labour. The organisation and delivery of health services requires the timely and efficient input of

several different sorts of labour in combination with the appropriate type of capital. Because local markets supply much of the labour used by the NHS the local market will have a significant impact on the amount of output produced. The quantity and quality of labour inputs is therefore important.

The framework provided by the production function also emphasises that the impact of the local labour market on service delivery is mediated by the availability and behaviour of other factors of production. A shortage of one type of labour might be overcome by employing more of another type of labour or by substituting capital for labour. The determinants of these substitution possibilities are both technical and administrative. Is it technically possible to substitute one type of labour for another or capital for labour and, if it is technically possible, do the rules or customary practices allow it? In the NHS these substitution possibilities are strictly governed by national clinical guidelines and rules set by the NHS and the professional bodies that represent employees. Where these national rules and regulations take little or no account of differences between local areas they throw the burden of adjustment to any change in the pattern of required output onto local supply.

4.1.2 The dimensions of the market

The impact of the local market on competition for health service professionals is attenuated by the nature of the skills each staff group possess and the training that has produced these skills. The geographical dimensions of the labour market for medical staff differ from those for nurses because the nature of their training is different. The training of medical staff comprises a period of general training followed by extensive on-the-job training in the chosen speciality. But once the speciality has been chosen there may be only a small number of such posts demanding those skills in any location and the opportunities for advance can only be realised by moving between locations. The structure of specialist training for medical staff is managed by the royal colleges and postgraduate deaneries which emphasise professional and specialty boundaries.

The NHS is the dominant buyer in the market in which medical staff sell their skills and the review body establishes a national price that the NHS has to pay for these skills. The market for medical staff has many of the characteristics of an internal labour market. However within the NHS there is still competition between hospitals in different areas for the services of medical professionals. Moreover the competitors must compensate for aspects of the jobs they offer or the areas in which they are located which medical staff will find unattractive. The lack of flexibility in the wage structure means that this competition is forced onto other conditions of service. If conditions of service and job characteristics cannot be changed to compensate, then dissatisfaction and low morale of staff may be observed. In contrast because of the nature of their training and because of their mobility – itself a consequence of non-labour market responsibilities and ties and associated career aspirations - the markets for the skills of nurses, ancillaries and clerical and administrative staff are much more open. They are also for these same reasons more local and more evidently competitive because alternative job openings exist in most areas. This means that they will often have important characteristics, such as house prices, in common across the whole market. As a result compensating for differences in house prices is not generally an element in local competition. But in turn this means that competition for the services of nurses, ancillaries and clerical and administrative staff will focus on other aspects of their jobs.

4.1.3 The local labour market and labour supply

The local market has a direct impact on the supply of much of the labour recruited by the NHS and thus supply conditions in that market will be explored. The following dimensions of local markets are key:

- The number and type of skills produced in the local market. The size and the ethnic and gender composition of the local population together with the type and quality of local training and education provision are key to this.
- Local attitudes to NHS jobs. In some areas there may be a greater enthusiasm (or 'public service ethos') for working in the caring professions and in the NHS.
- The presence or absence of competitors. Where other employers compete directly for the same type of skills employed by the NHS or the jobs they offer require no skills, they will have a more immediate impact on NHS service delivery than where the skills required are different. In the latter case employees require retraining before they can do the jobs on offer and this raises the costs of employing that labour. Competitors may be either other NHS organisations or other public and private sector firms. Where they are the former, NHS institutions can moderate competition within the NHS. This is a role that WDCs sometimes perform.

4.1.4 Geographical dimensions

Key to understanding the nature of the competition for staff between employers in different labour markets or indeed employers in the same labour market is the theory of compensating differentials. This theory proposes that competition will require employers to consider the whole of the advantages and disadvantages of the jobs they offer and that competitive balance or equilibrium will only have been achieved in any local labour market when the net advantages of jobs in that area are equalised. Competition means that employers must seek to compensate their employees for any disadvantages that are associated with the jobs they offer and that they may be able to pay less if the jobs are particularly attractive in other respects. Equally if

they are competing for employees with other areas they must compensate for any unattractive features of the area as well as the jobs they offer if they are to be competitive. We shall observe that this theory makes different predictions about the nature of competition for medical staff and nurses, ancillary, and clerical and administrative staff.

The level of remuneration must be set at different levels in different areas of the UK in order to produce the same real income. If it is not then this will encourage turnover and movement of staff across areas of the UK, and persistent shortages of staff in some areas. This is because of two important differences between areas of the country:

- 1 differences in the cost of living
- 2 differences in working conditions and the local environment.

Together these will determine the attractiveness of jobs in any particular area of the country. Differences in the cost of living reflect two things: differences in house prices and differences in the price of local services. The higher the local private sector wages, the higher will be the price of locally delivered services. The higher the price of locally delivered services and the higher the price of houses, the higher pay will need to be to compensate. If the type of work is less attractive, then again pay will need to be higher to compensate for this.

The local labour market and the pattern of demand for health services

The local labour market will be one source of difference in the pattern of demand for health services and thus the type of skills required by local health services. The type of health problems presented will differ according to the type of jobs done in the local market which in turn will reflect the occupational and industrial structure of the local economy. The pattern and types of occupational illnesses and injuries will differ between areas and will present demands for different types of skills. In turn this may offer more or less attractive opportunities for local health service professionals to practice their skills and will increase or diminish the appeal of jobs in the area. This could of course be extended to consider factors beyond the local labour market within the local society for these may also produce demands for different skills which may increase the appeal of jobs in certain areas. For example, doctors wishing to practice their skills in certain types of surgery may wish to spend time in localities which admit cases of gunshot wounds.

4.2 Literature reviews

4.2.1 Empirical evidence on the differences between local labour markets

The first literature review focused on those studies in economics that have examined differences in pay between the public and private sectors across geographical areas (i.e. local labour markets). The literature focuses specifically on the differentials between sectors in terms of pay. This is because in a well-functioning labour market pay would be the mechanism by which employers would compensate employees for doing unattractive jobs or living in unattractive or high cost areas, thereby enabling them to recruit and retain staff who would otherwise move to jobs and areas with more attractive characteristics. One would therefore expect differences in working conditions between sectors to be reflected in pay differentials. Pay differences would therefore reflect the competitiveness between these sectors.

The literature review revealed a small empirical literature reporting substantial geographical pay differences in the UK. Researchers have sought to determine whether the advantages and disadvantages of different jobs are equalised across the country, as they should be if labour markets worked well For a review of this theory and a survey of empirical work see Rosen (1986). However, researchers have found that differences persist even after differences in the characteristics of the workforce in different areas have been controlled for. For example, differences in the education levels of the workforce (Reilly, 1992), in the working environment, as proxied by the industrial mix (Shah and Walker, 1983), and in the attractiveness of the external environment in which they live and work (Blackaby and Murphy 1995), have all been found to be important in explaining the pattern of geographical pay differences in the UK. But they have not fully explained the observed patterns. This may be because labour must be mobile, labour markets integrated and pay structures flexible for the net advantages of jobs in different areas to be equalised. Where these conditions are not met, then the market is not working efficiently. These studies have all drawn on observational data from large public access surveys, such as the government's guarterly Labour Force Survey and the annual New Earnings Survey, and have used multiple regression analysis and econometric methods to control for the characteristics of workers and their jobs.

Researchers have pointed to differences in geographical unemployment rates as evidence of temporary disequilibrium (mismatches between the demand and supply of labour). It is worth noting that, strictly, these should be differences in unemployment rates beyond the area's natural rate, however these have not been estimated. Such differences in the unemployment rates between areas feed back into and affect pay. Empirical evidence of a negative relationship between the levels of local pay and unemployment has been advanced and debated (Blanchflower and Oswald, 1994a and b; Card, 1995; Blanchard and Katz, 1997; Black and Fitzroy, 2000).

But another source of mismatch between supply and demand in labour markets may be inflexible administrative (rather than market-driven) wage structures. This is more likely to be the case in health care. Administrative wage structures reflect the preferences of those participating in the institutions that set pay, for example trade unions or review bodies. Where trade unions have an important role in pay setting, pay is likely to deviate from the rates that would otherwise be paid in the market. If the power of trade unions differs between areas (see Blackaby and Manning, 1991) this will affect geographical patterns of pay. Trade unions and even review bodies are often concerned about equity and fair pay, and seek to negotiate a national rate for an occupation (see Metcalf et al. 2001). Where this happens they will narrow the geographical distribution of pay and the resulting wage structure will be flatter than would otherwise occur. The incidence of trade unionism is much greater in the NHS and in the public sector generally than in the private sector. It therefore seems likely that the geographical pattern of pay in the NHS will be much less unequal than in the private sector. Thus even though average pay may be little different in the two sectors, the private sector will exhibit a much steeper profile than the NHS. Such a situation is illustrated in Figure 1.

Under these conditions the NHS will overpay in some areas area and underpay in others. If the private sector appropriately compensates its employees for differences in the cost of living and compensates them for working in less desirable areas, then the NHS will underpay in the high cost of living and high disamenity areas and overcompensate in the lower cost of living and high amenity areas. Empirical research has mapped the pattern of geographical pay differences in the private sector but not in the NHS.

Figure 1 The pattern of wage differences between the public and private sectors



Researchers have sought to map the underlying pattern of geographical pay differences by standardising for all of the measurable differences between the composition of the workforce in different areas and the nature of jobs in different areas. The remaining differences in pay are called 'standardised spatial wage differentials' (SSWDs) and reflect the underlying, unmeasured, differences in cost of living and disamenities associated with work in different areas. They reveal what employers need to pay to attract staff to work in different parts of the country, thus these patterns are clearly of interest to the NHS.

To estimate SSWDs, researchers have controlled for differences in the industrial and occupational mix of the workforce and in the educational composition of the workforce in different areas. By further distinguishing between the public and private sectors of the workforce it has been possible to identify the impact of the different institutional arrangements that exist for setting pay.

Evidence on the structure of private sector pay differentials is available from two sources:

- 1 research undertaken to inform the distribution of local government finance
- 2 research undertaken to inform the distribution of NHS revenue in England and Wales.

The first of these produced estimates of SSWDs for the UK in the early 1990s and is reported in Elliott *et al.* (1996). The second is by Wilson *et al.* (2001). See Green (1998) for a detailed evaluation of these reports. Using standard regression techniques to control for all the measured differences in the characteristics of the workforce and jobs in different areas, they estimated SSWDs for the public and private sectors. They reveal that a significant part of the difference in 'raw' or unadjusted differences in average pay levels between areas can be explained by the measured characteristics, but substantial differences in pay between different areas of the UK remain (note that estimates for London only have been produced by the London Weighting Advisory Panel (2002). The differences illustrated in Figure 1 are shown empirically in Figures 2 and 3. The first study used the *Labour Force Survey* and the second the *New Earnings Survey*, hence the differences in the size of differentials (Ma *et al.*, 2003).

The value of these analyses is that they can identify geographical areas where the differences in pay between sectors is large, and therefore where there are likely to be the greatest recruitment and retention problems. For example, areas in London and the South East to the right of the graphs in Figures 2 and 3 are where recruitment and retention problems lie, and areas such as Cornwall to the extreme left may suffer fewer problems.



Figure 2 Regional wage differences from the *New Earnings Survey* (Wilson *et al.*, 2001)

Other research by Blanchflower *et al.* (1996) suggests that over the period 1973 to 1993 there was an increase in regional wage dispersion in Great Britain. However an article by Duranton and Monastiriotis (2002) suggested that during a slightly more recent period there was a movement towards pay equalisation across the principal areas of the UK. They argue that the returns to all key labour market characteristics (which they define as education, experience and gender) converged over the period 1982 to 1997. These apparently conflicting results are reconcilable, since a feature of the growing inequality of pay in the UK during the 1980s was an increase in the returns to unmeasured productive characteristics as evidenced by the growth in within-group inequality.





4.2.2 Empirical evidence from the private sector

The next area of literature to be examined was the private sector. In the private sector of the UK economy the incidence of national pay bargaining declined steeply during the 1980s and 1990s. Some indication of this is given in Millward *et al.* (2000) which draws on the government's *Workplace Industrial Relations Survey* series. This records that the percentage of all workplaces at which multi-employer bargaining was the most important level for setting pay declined from 41 per cent in 1984 to 13 per cent in 1998. Multi-employer bargaining is likely to be national bargaining and, so too, is some of the multi-site but single employer bargaining that covered 12 per cent of all workplaces in both 1984 and 1998. Taken together they paint a picture of a steep decline in national pay bargaining over the 14-year period.

The same survey records that the proportion of workplaces at which pay was set by collective bargaining declined from 60 per cent to 29 per cent over the same period. Today pay is still set by national bargaining in parts of construction, and the clothing and textiles and road haulage industries, but clearly these industries are exceptions. Elsewhere in the private sector there has been a marked decline in collective bargaining that is frequently described as a move toward more decentralised pay setting arrangements. It has been presumed, rather than established that these more decentralised arrangements, in which employers set pay without recourse to collective bargaining, are more flexible arrangements and moreover that these arrangements are responsive to differences in local labour market conditions.

Following the dismantling of multi-employer bargaining in much of the private sector in the 1980s there was considerable experimentation with new pay structures. These new structures focused on linking pay to performance and concentrated reward on the most highly skilled for whom there was emerging excess demand. But the tighter labour markets that developed in the latter half of the 1990s also led to greater experimentation with regional and occupational pay differentiation. Toward the end of the 1990s, as the labour shortages in London and the South East of England grew more acute, there was a renewed focus on regional pay differences.

There is, as yet, no systematic recording of the different mechanisms the private sector has devised for responding to differences in local labour markets and, perhaps as a result, there is very little robust research into these developments. The major secondary data sets that labour market analysts might use to examine this issue do not distinguish in sufficient detail either the different components of the hours that people work, the timing and bundling of these hours or elements of the compensation package that employers have used to respond to these changes in labour markets. The major exception is a detailed study commissioned by the Office of Manpower Economics (OME). This study (Incomes Data Services, 2002) analyses the practice in a large sample of leading national companies in the private sector - the five major supermarket chains, two major banks, Ford, BT, British Gas, Pickfords, a major private sector child care provider, two building societies, and two insurance companies - as well as local government, the fire and the prison services - and offers the most comprehensive analysis currently available.

The study focuses on large national companies and thus on those private sector companies it might be thought the most appropriate reference point for the NHS. The study reveals that the vast majority of these national companies in the private sector retain national pay structures. But on top of these national structures they then build a set of allowances to accommodate regional or local labour market differences. The allowances always recognise the higher cost-of-living in London and are then awarded according to a set of criteria which determine whether local managers can further adjust pay in response to local shortages. In order to keep control of the pay the authority to adjust pay is usually agreed centrally, subject to the case being made by local managers following the agreed criteria.

The study reports that most large companies in the private sector which have a network of branches or workplaces spread across the different areas of the UK operate within a single national pay structure but that built into this is the opportunity to pay more to employees in some areas. Most frequently they use zonal or regional pay bands but some pay additional premiums in 'hot spots' or market premiums. The study identifies the following practices in the private sector:

1 London allowances and location allowances.

- Free standing London allowances are paid in the vast majority of companies. These allowances then decrease in two to four bands in line with distance from central London.

2 Extending London allowances

- The principle has been extended in many organisations to cover parts of the South East or large towns. These are paid at lower rates than London allowances.

3 Zonal pay systems

- Out of the three or four concentric circles of London allowances, zonal pay systems have been developed. Areas are allocated to zones, so that zone 1 might be inner London, zone 2 outer London, zone 3, the rest of the south east, zone 4 might be other large towns such as Birmingham, Oxford or Edinburgh. Workplaces in the same region might be placed in different zones. Companies decide on the size of the 'kitty' to be allocated to annual pay increases and then on the basis of local labour market statistics and local market rates decide how this is to be distributed across the zones.

4 Regional pay bands

- Similar to zonal pay bands these divide the country up into a number of distinct regions. They would appear more aggregated and less attuned to differences in local market conditions

5 Market-related pay

- Some organisations pay small additional premiums in addition to other systems of regional pay. This allows them to adjust more finely to market rates or to address hot spots. This system is used on a limited basis and is highly regulated by headquarters with local managers having to provide evidence of recruitment and retention levels and local market data before the payment can be justified.

The OME study concludes that local, or single workplace or site level, pay setting is not very common. The reason for this, the authors propose, is that companies find that local pay setting duplicates effort and thus uses greater resource, that there is often a lack of appropriate local management expertise and that it might lead to a loss of control of the pay bill.

4.2.4 Empirical evidence from the NHS

A total of 139 papers/studies (including books, journal articles, editorials, working papers and letters) were retrieved, reviewed and selected or rejected based on whether they addressed the following four criteria.

- 1 NHS competitiveness: Whether the paper describes (either quantitatively or qualitatively) the competitiveness of the NHS compared to other employers in terms of differences in compensation package, working conditions and job satisfaction.
- 2 Local flexibility: Whether the paper mentions the existence of local flexibility to change pay and working conditions and/or mention the rigidities imposed by national pay structures and policies.
- 3 Response to labour market conditions: Whether the paper describes the local NHS response to changes in labour market conditions.
- 4 Impact of service delivery and organisation: Whether the paper describes/examines the relationship between local labour market conditions and service delivery, the organisation of care and productivity.

Any papers or studies that did not meet any of the above four criteria or did not pass the quality tests were excluded. The selected papers/studies (a total of 44) were summarised in two tables in Appendix 3. Table 8 presents a summary of papers/studies reviewed and listed the author(s), number of criteria addressed, study design, sample size, setting (UK-wide or a specific local market), aim of paper and main results. Table 9 then contained authors (as found in Table A3.1, with dates of publications in brackets or reference numbers where there were no dates) and findings of each (selected) study in relation to each of the four criteria.

A majority of the final studies selected were qualitative research or reports about nurses (and midwives). Other staff groups included were doctors, GPs, pharmacists, hospital managers and occupational therapists. The major themes emerging from the reviewed papers are addressed according to the four criteria set out in the reviews. Figure 4 attempts to illustrate the number of papers that discussed each of the criteria, including those that were not selected.



Figure 4 Proportion of criteria addressed

NHS competitiveness

The main source of competition between the NHS and the non-NHS healthcare sectors, especially for nursing staff and care workers, was in the area of employment. With an ever-increasing private healthcare sector (Gray and Phillips 1996; Meadows et al. 2000), agency nursing is becoming very lucrative and seriously competing with the NHS for supply of nursing labour. Net growth in nursing employment has been accounted for by increased employment in the various non-NHS sectors. While a high proportion of NHS leavers go to non-NHS nursing jobs (Buchan et al., 1998; Bradshaw, 1999) argues that the NHS is not seen as an attractive place to work. Even though nurses' pay compares favourably to that of other non-manual employees in the NHS, agency nursing offers more flexible working hours and better pay, which could explain why increasing numbers of UK nurses are working exclusively for agencies (Cole, 2001). Some resign from the NHS and move to agencies. According to Finlayson (2002), almost half of all nurses who leave the NHS remain in non-NHS nursing posts, usually in agencies. More generally, O'Kell (2002) found that public services are no longer attractive as a career option to many people, especially as the private sector offers more money. He was writing on the issues affecting the independent care home sector prior to the introduction of national minimum standards for care homes in April 2002 (see Department of Health, 2003b).

A large number of studies focus on the relative attractiveness of NHS health care jobs to non-NHS jobs. The conclusion that emerges is that this is largely determined by differences in compensation packages and working conditions, all of which bear heavily on job satisfaction. The highly centralised pay system in the NHS (Gray and Phillips, 1995) makes it very difficult to respond to short run shocks in the health care labour market, and also makes it less attractive to job seekers. Sources of dissatisfaction for all staff within the NHS include:

 how valued staff feel (see for example Bebbington, 1995; Blenkinsopp *et al.*, 2001; Finlayson, 2002)

- their working environment (Bebbington, 1995; Boardman *et al.*, 2000; Meadows *et al.*, 2000; Davidson *et al.*, 2001; Margallo-Lana *et al.*, 2001; Finlayson 2002; Cole 2002; Scott 2002)
- pay (Gray and Phillips, 1996; Meadows *et al.*, 2000; Finlayson 2002)
- inflexible working (Blenkinsopp *et al.* 1999; Scott 2002)
- inadequate training opportunities and career progression (Bebbington, 1995; Buchan and Thomas, 1995; Beedham, 1996)
- staff shortages (Bebbington, 1995; Meadows *et al.*, 2000; Newman *et al.*, 2002)
- discrimination (Meadows et al., 2000)
- inadequate staff support (Aiken *et al.*, 2002).

However, training and promotion opportunities are reported to be a more important source of dissatisfaction than workload and pay (Shields and Ward, 2001).

Local flexibility

There is an apparent paucity of research on the existence and consequences of local flexibility to change pay and working conditions in the NHS. The NHS pay system functions through review bodies who set national salary scales for most staff groups, but Gray and Phillips (1995) find similarly centralised (and inflexible) systems in other organisations. Inflexibility in pay structures diminishes the scope for local pay bargaining (Grimshaw, 2000) and the deployment of nursing staff in response to variations in patient demand (Carr-Hill and Jenkins-Clarke, 2003). There is conflicting evidence on the existence and scale of pay variations resulting from a centralised pay system for the NHS. While Rice (2003) confirms the absence of significant variation in the pay of women employed as nurses in Britain, Morris (2002) and Skatun *et al.* (2003) report small, significant variations in nurses' pay outside London.

Response to labour market conditions

Carr-Hill and Jenkins-Clarke (2003) report a complete lack of flexibility in deployment of nursing staff in response to patient demand in 30 UK hospitals. However, there is quite a substantial literature reporting how several local NHS healthcare services have responded in various ways to changes in labour market conditions.

Lyall (1992) reports that in 1989, the Warrington District General Hospital offered all of its 2300 employees free annual health checks as part of an award-winning staff benefits scheme which started with a visit to Marks and Spencer's. The 'staff acquisition and retention' (STAR) initiative also included free medicals, chiropody, eye testing, a hospital nursery where staff were entitled to reduced fees, a hairdresser and a general shop.

Richards (1998) reports that recruitment strategies had been successful at the Bethlem and Maudsley NHS Trust because they focused their advertisements on job rotation schemes and professional development study programmes for new therapists.

Faced with a shortage of nurses, the King's Lynn and Wisbech Hospitals Trust set up a recruitment drive offering a range of training and work opportunities. The recruitment drive consisted of advertisements in local papers, including several free sheets, and posters sent to every GP surgery and library. The advertisements and posters mentioned the availability of free courses and opportunities for flexible working. Worby and McGouran (1999) report that a deliberate attempt was made throughout the promotion to appear flexible, friendly and approachable.

Llandough Hospital Community NHS Trust in South Wales introduced a well-planned induction course for its newly-recruited Filipino nurses (Lipley, 1999).

Ryrie *et al.* (2000) describes how one inner-city NHS trust responded to difficulties in recruiting staff by establishing a community rotation scheme that allowed basic grade occupational therapists to gain experience in a range of community-based positions.

Fifteen trusts co-operated in an imaginative attempt to encourage former NHS nurses to return to work, taking approachability and informality as their guiding principles. These 15 trusts came from three health authorities in Avon, Gloucestershire and North Wiltshire, and covered areas from Tewkesbury in the north to Mallet in the south (Duguid, 2000).

The Stepping Hill Hospital in Stockport adopted a flexible approach to contracting in order to cope with winter demand, and giving nursing staff a welcome opportunity to rejoin the workforce. The principle behind the flexible contracts was to allow nurses the opportunity to decide when they worked so long as they completed the hours agreed in their contract during the course of a year and gave due consideration to service needs (Johnson, 2000).

Fife Healthcare Trust used a local employment agency to match demand for bank nurses with supply. The agency is given notice of authorised bank nurses who notify the agency of their availability to work on a weekly basis. Any requests for shift cover are passed to the agency, which then contacts the available bank nurses and allocates shifts. This arrangement saved staff in the trust considerable effort and time in allocating temporary nurses to shifts. West Lothian, East and Midlothian and the Western General Trusts jointly developed a nurse bank software package to help manage their nurse banks. A database was established which contained information regarding availability of each bank nurse, their areas of expertise and qualifications, and a work pattern history. From this, the nurse bank administrator identified nurses who had already worked on a particular
ward. The system automatically updated all records when a firm booking was made and matched the shift required to the staff database. The system greatly improved the efficiency of the nurse bank operation and offered a wide range of management reports, which had previously been unavailable. To overcome staff shortages (and vacancies) in all its departments, King's Lynn and Wisbech Hospitals Trust launched a recruitment drive to encourage nurses back to work. This consisted of advertisements in local papers, mention in local radio and television, and posters sent to every GP surgery and library. Specific mention was made of the need for general, paediatric and mental health nurses, and midwives, as well as the availability of free courses and opportunities for flexible working. The trusts felt that offering this range of training and work opportunities was successful in addressing its nurse shortages (Accounts Commission for Scotland, 2000).

Baker *et al.* (2001) report on a partnership formed (under a teaching company scheme) between the Pendine Park Nursing Home and the Centre for Learning Development to develop care pathways that were specific to the independent sectors. They argue that the adoption of care pathways could provide an alternative that will promote evidence-based practice, incorporate efficient use of resources, combine the efforts of all who contribute to the care and include local protocols within the company.

Duffin (2001) reports that cost-of-living supplements paid to NHS staff in areas with high living costs such as Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham Health Authority in inner London (who receive the highest allocation), were criticised for being divisive and discriminatory. Such supplements are believed to be the cause of a drift of nurses from Brighton Health Care NHS Trust in East Sussex (which does not qualify for the supplements) towards neighbouring Worthing in West Sussex (which did).

In 1999 the Morecambe Bay Hospitals NHS trust visited local schools to gauge and challenge children's negative perceptions of health care as a career. This was a way to raise the profile of the NHS in the community and was driven by a concern that declining interest in the profession could affect future recruitment efforts (Watkins, 2002).

Aberdeen Royal Infirmary introduced an innovative strategy to boost nurse retention that allowed staff to take sabbaticals (Collier, 2002).

Seventy three health authorities in England reported the use or planned use of schemes, which centred on improved training for GP registrars and recently qualified GPs as part of efforts to ensure an adequate workforce of GP principals. A minority of health authorities were also actively supporting continuing or refresher education for established principals and induction training for potential returners (Leese *et al.*, 2002). Dickson *et al.* (2002) describes salaried GP schemes as one strategy that has been adopted to improve recruitment and retention. These have been witnessed in Sunderland, Newcastle, Durham, South London and the North West Region health authorities.

These studies reveal that health authorities have explored a wide range of different initiatives in response to different local labour market conditions. The studies generally report that these initiatives have been successful, but there has been no more systematic attempt to distinguish any of the 'knock-on' effects which would emerge if health authorities were competing for a given pool of labour or whether such initiatives have increased the size of the pool as people are drawn back into nursing. The costs and effects of these initiatives have not been evaluated.

Impact of service delivery

In theory, changes in health care labour market conditions are bound to have a significant impact on service delivery, the organisation of care and productivity. However, little evidence exists to support or refute this hypothesis. Unpublished surveys from the Audit Commission of the Department of Health (reported in Scott, 2002) showed that in any one year, 50 to 60 per cent of hospitals have had to refuse to provide services because of staff shortages, and this indicates that staff shortages have a real impact on service delivery.

4.3 Results from interviews.

4.3.1 Characteristics of labour markets

The nature and characteristics of the local labour market seemed to be crucial determinants of the competitiveness of trusts and thus of the shortages facing them. These characteristics were largely outside of the trusts' control and though they had in some cases devised imaginative responses they had not always been successful. The characteristics included travel times and accessibility, ethnic and socio-economic composition of the population, attractiveness of the geographical area and house prices.

Travel times and the accessibility to staff of other local competitors (including other NHS trusts) was particularly important for the nursing and ancillary workforces. The proximity of other trusts also influenced the degree to which services could be provided jointly and staff shared across organisations as a response to local shortages. The ethnic and socio-economic composition of the local population was an important determinant of the size of the available pool of local labour and this influenced the ability of the NHS to recruit from local labour markets and communities. Some ethnic groups were reported to be unattracted by some jobs in the caring professions, for example ancillary positions and nursing.

Where the local pool was too small trusts had to recruit from outside the local area and this was also the case where the local population did not have the required skills. The composition of the local population was also seen as a factor influencing a trust's ability to recruit internationally. Where the local population was ethnically homogenous this was seen as making it more difficult to recruit in the international market.

We haven't done any overseas recruitment...we haven't got a housing infrastructure that supports it, nor a culture that would support overseas recruitment...it would be really quite difficult to bring a cohort of people across...The...community has some very fixed views around people coming into the county. We have recruited people and...they have turned the job down because their partners can't get jobs.

The ethnic and socio-economic composition also influenced the nature of morbidity and therefore the services provided by trusts. This in turn influenced the relative attractiveness of trusts as employers, with the more diverse being the more attractive. On balance it appeared that trusts located in more ethnically and socio-economically diverse areas (usually urban areas) had more options available to them to address shortages of staff and to mitigate the effects of shortages on service delivery.

The attractiveness of the area as a place to live played a role in compensating for other disadvantages, such as poor access to training (Cornwall) or a deprived population (Wales). Crime and schooling were also mentioned. Recent reductions in junior doctors' hours have had the effect of increasing consultants' workload and this may have a disproportionate effect on the attractiveness of consultants' jobs in those areas in which consultants have chosen to work because of the higher quality of life.

Junior doctors' hours are now forcing consultants to work longer hours and that is diminishing their quality of life...we have many staff who resent it more than you might find elsewhere because they have made some choices to come here [for the quality of life].

In London and adjoining areas, the trusts interviewed also mentioned the role of the London allowances.

As far as I'm concerned, it's the south east of England, its very expensive whether you are here or in London and we are all going to struggle to get staff.

But extra pay was not regarded by all respondents as the solution.

There is a bit of myth around that [the effects of London weighting], at the end of the day managers who are in a tight corner over recruitment will shoot off all over the place about why they think that is, in an effort to convince you that we should be piling another £1000 on the salaries of their people.

House prices were also mentioned frequently in interviews conducted in the South East and even the extreme South West where the rate of increase was perceived to be high. Even where subsidised accommodation was available this did not always provide a solution if the underlying shortages were severe.

We were looking for at least ten anaesthetists. We thought if we offered top notch subsidised accommodation that we would get them in...We did find a new development which is only a mile [away] and we still could not get them in.

The cost of living may also influence the success of recruiting doctors internationally as they may not want to live in the most expensive areas such as the South East.

One of the other trusts interviewing was from the north east of England and the consultant went there because he was convinced that that was the best move for him and his family because of the cost of living.

4.3.2 NHS competitiveness

A number of dimensions of competitiveness were mentioned in the interviews. These included general statements about the nature of competitiveness with other employers, and also perceptions of human resources managers of the relative attractiveness of their organisation. Generally, trusts did compete with each other for staff, and this was on the basis of a number of factors including both pay and non-pay factors.

We compete actively with all of the other large hospitals in [X].... and beyond...they are all half an hour away.

More so than before you have got a sort of migration of consultants from what was traditionally an established post that they were in for life... [this trend has] significantly increased over the last five years.

For trusts located in more rural areas there were different sorts of problems in recruitment. The size of the labour market in which they operated meant new staff had to move to the area and encountered all the location costs.

But our issue really is to work here you have to locate here. You cannot maintain your home wherever it was, you have to physically move. We do have a few people [consultants] who haven't relocated and I am aware...of problems and one who maybe thinking of leaving.

WDCs were playing a role to try and reduce the competition and coordinate trusts in their recruitment campaigns. Competition for staff across the territories was also mentioned in one trust, particularly in terms of the new consultants' contract and whether it will offer different rewards in different parts of the UK.

Competition for staff with other employers (public and private) was not mentioned frequently, except in the context of agencies for nursing staff. Private sector hospitals and nursing staff were hardly mentioned as a particular problem. Respondents noted that the Agenda for Change policy will offer five weeks' annual leave which will be a distinct advantage over the private sector. In terms of consultants' private practice, this was something that trusts had to

deal with, although one trust mentioned that consultants compete with each other for private practice, which has implications for recruitment and working together in the NHS.

Relative pay was mentioned frequently in the context of agencies. Although some trusts perceived that they had similar levels of flexibility in working hours to agencies, they believed that higher pay in agencies was the key factor. However, trusts raising the rates of pay in their nursing bank to match rates paid by agencies was not always the solution. The perceptions of respondents that other aspects of the jobs they offer are as attractive as those offered by agencies is evidently incorrect.

It's purely economic, its purely money. I can understand it, if you are an ITU nurse why would you want to go and work permanently for an organisation when you know you can get 50 per cent more by going through an agency.

But it was also clear that the picture was more complex.

One argument is why don't you just raise your bank rates and cut out the commission and then surely we are quids in, but we are not because the agency stronghold is only in pockets of the organisation and the vast majority of extra shifts are worked via our bank.

A further issue is that some agencies pay staff weekly rather than monthly, which is attractive to some staff. Agencies also enable nurses not to work shifts if they do not want to.

[Offering] a slightly enhanced salary but working when they wanted to and being paid on a weekly basis, the agencies twigged... I think a survey was done... that was as important to the agency nurse as the wage.

Pay was also mentioned in the context of other staff groups. Some trusts mentioned that they had few problems with clerical and secretarial staff as their rates of pay were competitive, whereas others frequently mentioned Tesco and B&Q as competitors for ancillary staff. Some respondents from trusts also mentioned that local authorities paid slightly higher rates for occupational therapists. Pharmacists and the expansion of pharmacies in supermarkets was also mentioned as providing more lucrative opportunities, but this was set against the opportunities in the NHS for specialisation and skills development.

Trusts also competed with other trusts on the basis of their reputation, opportunities for professional development and intellectual challenge, most of which were related to teaching status. Hospitals being involved in the training of doctors and nurses, even if they were not a teaching trust, seemed to offer advantages in terms of people returning once their training was completed.

Historically, we have relied on our status as a teaching organisation, it has been a draw... I think we have quite a high turnover for nursing... actually that's good because we can attract people, we actually want people to come and go. Obviously it needs managing. In areas without teaching:

...You are not near the body of knowledge... you are away from the people that are going to be helping with your professional development.

New NHS developments and capital investment were seen as improving the relative attractiveness of a number of trusts that were interviewed. This included the setting up of NHS Direct call centres staffed by senior nurses. Changes in the nature of training were also perceived to influence the competitiveness of the NHS compared to other employers.

Now that student nurses are in tertiary education they are doing their degrees with everyone else and I suspect that some of them are deciding that there are other careers out there... the [number of] nurses who are coming out with the qualifications [who are] determined to pursue a nursing career is not as high.

4.3.3 Local flexibility

Opportunities for NHS trusts to respond flexibly to changes in local labour market conditions focused on pay, new roles and training, and the discretion to offer fringe benefits such as subsidised accommodation or relocation packages. A number of examples were given about how these factors became the deciding factor in some cases and practice was discovered to vary widely with respect to some conditions of work.

There were a group of therapy radiographers who qualified in Northern Ireland who said they were quite happy to come and work in our cancer centre...but what happened was that Manchester and Liverpool offered them $\pounds1000$ golden hellos.

We've got a lot of flexibility here. Nurses can work out any working pattern they like, which we will consider, providing there are no demerits to the service.

There were some issues about the role of WDCs which saw their role as helping and co-ordinating trusts. Some trusts viewed WDCs as reducing their flexibility, while others saw more central support as helpful if it was in line with their trust's needs. Integration of trusts into NHS Boards in Scotland would mean that human resources directors were less 'close to the ground' and may therefore have less flexibility and discretion to make decisions around terms and conditions. Organisational change may therefore result in different degrees of flexibility in different parts of the UK. Scotland also now has a minimum pay deal, negotiated with Unison, which is above the national minimum wage. This raises the competitiveness of the lowest paid NHS jobs.

One trust has had a local pay scheme and negotiation since 1994, but found it costly since it was the only trust in the area that had chosen to do this. It did not seem to give the trust a particular flexibility over setting pay, because they still had a budget to keep within. They had used this flexibility to link salary progression to the employee's

appraisal rating and remove automatic uprating, but as in other areas of the public sector it is now recognised that this was not necessarily an advantage.

People like to see pay scales and amounts of money... if they saw anything different it actually became quite frightening

A number highlighted the possible inflationary effects of using pay as the main way to attract and retain staff.

The reason why I'm happy about Agenda for Change is that it stops this nonsense of one trust piling on £5000 to a pharmacist's salary and not doing anything for recruitment but just creating a pay spiral.

Some trusts also had discretion with pay rates and where to place people on the pay scales for certain staff groups.

We do try and be as flexible as we can in terms of consultants' starting salaries.

You could use greater discretion in terms of starting points on salary... There is discretion to use off-scale points...but I am not aware of anybody who has done that.

At the moment we could be paying medical secretaries grade four, but they [competitors] could be paying grade five or six and the job descriptions are identical but to get them that is what they need to pay.

You could start to review grades... we do try and keep pace with each other in the HR [human resources] community and these are extreme measures... because of the implications on parity and wage drift and so its not something we enter into lightly.

We try and keep it fairly stable, but there are particular areas where we can do something local, we have that power for our remuneration committee to do that.

A number of trusts also mentioned flexibility in training and research.

...we are happy to set up those links, they like it...it widens their experience and we think it makes them a happier employee.

Some trusts mentioned that they are losing their choice over which training grade doctors to have and suggested they will be allocated to hospitals.

They have put them where they want to go, rather than where they are appropriate or suitable.

There were also rigidities in training and developing new roles.

...because of the Royal Colleges and the fact that developing new roles is so tortuous, what we are not able to do is take advantage of those who aren't professionally qualified to bridge the gap between professions...We need the Royal Colleges to remove some of their boundaries.

4.3.4 Responses to local labour market conditions

NHS trusts responded in a number of ways including a number of general recruitment and retention initiatives, overseas recruitment,

and changes in skill mix and training. Most of these were national initiatives or organised by the WDC, although local innovations also played a role. The interviews with WDCs focused on their 'added value', which seemed to be in terms of co-ordination of initiatives across trusts and the production and sharing of information through the setting up of websites. They were also examining the workforce implications of local delivery plans.

General initiatives included return to practice courses, subsidised nurseries, paid parental leave, introducing tighter controls on the use of locums, modern apprenticeships, investment in occupational health services to reduce the sickness absence rate, flexible hours, visiting local schools, recruitment fairs, international recruitment, and transport or parking initiatives in urban areas.

We are now actively tracking where people live and how people get to work to try and work with the local transport providers in designing transport routes.

Partnership and the provision of shared services with other NHS organisations was also important. This was being encouraged by WDCs, although some trusts were already doing this. This included reacting in advance to new NHS facilities being opened locally by creating a dialogue with these other organisations.

We have a lot of meetings with them... protocols around notice periods and about encouraging them not to take certain key staff, and to take part-time staff in the first instance that want to increase their hours.

Trusts also responded with job enhancement and training.

[For] senior house officer grades... we insist that they should all have advanced life support training because there is no onsite anaesthetic support... and they are the people who are there.

What we look for is people that have been made redundant, have been retired with ill health, who can come back in and do some work around the lower skilled workforce.

We support worker role development and shifting the skill mix boundaries between registered nurses and support workers.

However, trusts that were distant from the main learning centres reported problems in developing roles because of the lack of local training courses.

An issue raised by one trust was organisational/management culture.

Some people have no idea how their [management] style impacts on people, they just don't have any idea...and there is an underlying culture within the NHS... that lingers on... In terms of employee relations... I would say that we are 20 to 30 years behind the times here... this is reflected throughout the NHS... it takes quite a lot to support managers into taking charge of their own destiny... and getting them to help them to make decisions.

An issue mentioned by many trusts in England was successful international recruitment of both nurses and doctors, although this

was focused in the trusts in the South East and heavily urban and ethnically diverse areas. As mentioned earlier, this was not considered to be an option for trusts with more homogenous local populations.

We have something like 250 to 300 nurses from the Philippines. We started going out there four or five years ago, but are not planning to go again as our vacancy rate has come down so much.

Twenty-five per cent of our nursing labour force is now from overseas...without it we would be really struggling to deliver basic services.

But it was noted that not all overseas recruits had been retained. trusts also noted that the career aspirations of overseas recruits may be different from those recruited locally. A challenge appeared to be to encourage some groups of nurses recruited abroad to raise their career aspirations and to seek promotion to fill higher grade posts with more supervisory responsibilities.

4.3.5 Impact on service delivery and organisation

A number of issues were mentioned about the effect of labour market conditions on the level and quality of service provision, on dissatisfaction, pressures at work, and on sickness absence rates. There were also general issues with diagnostic and support areas that may cause delays to patients waiting for tests, such as radiology. Most focused on the negative effects on service delivery and quality of care but a few also offered more positive solutions such as partnerships with other trusts.

They had enough of the high turnover, because of its impact on patient care and because you are dealing with acutely ill people that need continuity of care.

The ability to maintain the service over a 24 hour, seven day a week period becomes very stretched, particularly out of normal hours...there is a lot of goodwill and we do rely on them wanting to be part of the rota...as long as you have got a hard core of staff that can provide that service...as soon as one or two drop off, the remainder get very stressed. We have had to buy in agency staff at an increased cost...I wouldn't say that our services to patients have unduly suffered...patients who come in after five [p.m.] do take longer to be seen, but of course we are still achieving our 90 per cent target of patients being seen within four hours.

If you are looking at the surgical patch it may mean you have cancelled operations...this morning I [met] with the managers of ITU and because of our controls in getting agency staff they are having to cancel elective patients because they haven't got the staff...they can't get the staff in quickly enough.

We have beds closed in one of our community hospitals at the moment because we need to do some building work but that was opportune because we couldn't staff them.

People are working longer hours, they are probably being less and less effective, they are not doing a good job. There is money for locums to come in and support them but the bottom line [is that] costs increase.

This clearly affects patient care... A real impact [of not having a shortage] is that we are able to get people through the system quickly... If we can scan right now we can see that there is nothing, give him two aspirin and send him home in which case we have another bed.

It's been a constraint in terms of the speed with which we have managed to [expand services]... at times it has affected the sequence and timescale over which services have grown...We had great difficulty opening a new surgical assessment unit... I'm sure that would have impacted on other services.

It's easier to go off sick if you need a break and change, because it's actually very difficult to change your employer... I think part of our sickness absence levels can be attributed to people who have had enough or have become ill or have chosen to become ill to have a break.

A number of trusts sought a solution by sharing services and working in partnership.

So maybe we stop doing particular things or we link up with other hospitals and we pool our resources and that's probably the way we are going to resolve it.

I think we do have to look at partnerships with other hospitals... we provide our 'max fax' service to three trusts including ourselves... none of us could really sustain a whole department ourselves... We do the same with kidneys and livers... we are used to working in partnership.

Section 5 Research agenda

5.1 Research questions

A substantial number of research questions arise from this scoping exercise. Overall, there is an absence of high quality empirical evidence and a marked lack of primary data collection. There have been no rigorous evaluations of the costs and benefits of the myriad of policy interventions that exist to address recruitment and retention. Those studies that exist have been small and the results are not generalisable. Human resources directors in the NHS seem to have little data or rigorous evidence on which to base their decisions. The role of WDCs is evolving and they need to complement and support the activities of NHS organisations in their area. WDCs may have a role in helping to co-ordinate and facilitate research within and across WDC areas.

Research should focus on specific staff groups within the NHS: medical and nursing staff are a priority because of their centrality to service delivery but allied health professionals, radiology and diagnostic services, pathology, and anaesthesia require analysis.

5.1 Research questions

The research questions have been organised into two broad themes.

5.1.1 How competitive are NHS pay and conditions compared to other areas of employment and other careers?

What are the determinants of flows of staff within the NHS, and between the NHS and other employers? Research should focus on the following:

- 1 The key determinants of the decisions of qualified staff to join and leave NHS employment. In particular much is to be gained by understanding the decisions of nurses to work for agencies or directly for the NHS.
- 2 The determinants of the early career choices of doctors, the factors influencing mobility, choice of hospital and the link between these and specialty choice.
- 3 The factors that explain the choice of a career in the NHS, including the existence and role of a 'public service ethos', and the perceptions of the attractiveness of NHS careers that are held by different ethnic and socio-economic groups in the population.
- 4 The factors that explain variations in aspirations for further professional development between the various ethnic populations employed in the NHS.

5 The competitiveness of the NHS for different staff groups across geographical areas of the UK. In particular an understanding of the scale of the underlying variations in the pay of professional groups in the NHS and the extent to which these relate to underlying market conditions.

These studies should focus on the role of relative pay, fringe benefits and other elements of the compensation package, conditions of work, opportunities for professional development and other sources of motivation. It was evident that these factors differed significantly between professional groups and will differ according to family composition and across the life cycles of staff. The role of the characteristics of the geographical area, and the relative importance of each of the above factors must be better understood. It is important that studies focus on factors that can be influenced by policy, while recognising the importance of cultural and professional factors that are more difficult to influence in the short term. Studies should have an explicit theoretical basis in economics or organisational and social psychology.

A range of research methods could be used to answer these questions. These should involve comparisons between jobs, rather than be conducted solely within jobs or single NHS employers. The methods could include the following:

- Robust empirical analysis using multivariate techniques on large secondary and administrative datasets (including securing access to the personnel records of a sample of employers).
- Existing cohort studies using primary data collection which might be expanded in size to facilitate the production of more generalisable results, and be subjected to more rigorous panel data estimation techniques. The selective use of personnel records from a sample of trusts could also be employed in such analyses.
- The prospective evaluation of interventions to influence recruitment and retention and change labour market behaviour (see Section 5.1.2 below).
- The use of attitudinal surveys and stated preference methods, such as job satisfaction studies and discrete choice experiments, but only where these studies compare across different jobs and use multivariate analysis to examine the relative importance of factors.
- Quantitative analysis should be supported by qualitative analysis such as case studies and interviews where appropriate.

Comparisons between the NHS and the private sector must reveal appropriate sensitivity to differences in the performance targets in the two sectors. Where the private sector will choose to discontinue a line of activity when local labour market issues threaten profitability, the NHS must continue to deliver according to the targets set.

5.1.2 What are the costs and benefits of policies and interventions (including changes in service delivery) to increase recruitment and retention and influence the labour market decisions of NHS staff?

The literature and the interviews revealed a considerable diversity in the policies and initiatives that are currently underway, but there was little evidence that any had been rigorously evaluated. Further analysis of the costs and benefits should cover:

- An evaluation of those interventions that are based on the responses of the NHS in terms of changes in service delivery, such as changes in skill mix and role development and the sharing of services across NHS organisations.
- An evaluation of the variety of retention and recruitment schemes which include return to practice, international recruitment, flexible working, crèche and nursery provision.
- An evaluation of flexibility in setting pay and conditions, incorporating the effects of such policies on costs and equity in the workplace. Such an evaluation must also include the opportunities available to NHS employers and the extent to which they are used.
- An examination of the impact of Agenda for Change and the new contracts for consultants and GPs on recruitment and retention and on labour market decisions. These require the early commissioning of research to evidence the situation before the introduction of these changes.

The methods to be used should include:

- a more systematic and critical assessment of the literature on the costs and benefits of recruitment and retention policies in the NHS and more generally, although the research undertaken here suggests that this literature will not be extensive
- research which collects primary data on the costs and benefits of such policies in the NHS
- research using observational data from secondary data sources on the costs and benefits of such policies

Section 7 References

- Accounts Commission for Scotland. 2000. *Temporary Measures: Managing bank and agency nursing staff*. Edinburgh: Accounts Commission for Scotland.
- Aiken, L.H., Clarke, S.P., Cheung, R.B., Sloane, D.M. and Silber, J.H. 2003. Educational levels of hospital nurses and surgical patient mortality. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 290:1617-1623.
- Aiken, L.H., Clarke, S.P. and Sloane, D.M. 2002. Hospital staffing, organization, and quality of care: cross-national findings. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care* 14:5-13.
- Askildsen, J.E., Baltagi, B.H. and Holmas, T.H. 2003. .Wage policy in the health care sector: a panel data analysis of nurses' labour supply. *Health Economics* 12: 705-719.
- Baker, S., Williams, B., Jones, D. and Fazey, J. 2001. The Pendine pathways project in the independent sector. *Nursing Standard* 15:41-42.
- Bebbington, D. 1995. *Recruitment, Retention and Returners: A study of the career paths of people with a speech and language therapy qualification.* London: College of Speech and Language Therapists.
- Beedham, T. 1996. Why do young doctors leave medicine? *British Journal of Hospital Medicine* 55:699-701.
- Black, A.J. and Fitzroy, F.R. 2000. Earnings curves and pay curves. *Scottish Journal of Political Economy* 47:471-86.
- Blackaby, D.H. and Murphy, P.D. 1995. Earnings, unemployment and Britain's north-south divide: real or imaginary? *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics* 57:487-512.
- Blackaby, D.H. and Manning, D.N. 1999. Industry characteristics and inter-area pay differences. *Scottish Journal of Political Economy* 38:142-61.
- Blanchard, O, and Katz, L.F. 1997. What we know and what we do not know about the natural rate of unemployment. *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 11:51-72.
- Blanchflower, D.G. and Oswald, A.J. 1994a. *Estimating a wage curve for Britain: 1973-1990.* Economic Journal 104:1025-43.
- Blanchflower, D.G. Oswald, A.J. 1994b. *The Wage Curve*. Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Blanchflower, D.G., Oswald, A.J., Baker, B. and Sandbach, J. 1996. *The Area Labour Cost Adjustment: Empirical analysis and evidence of a new approach. Project C, report to the Department of the Environment*. London: National Economic Research Associates, London.

- Blenkinsopp, A., Boardman, H., Jesson, J. and Wilson, K. 1999. A pharmacy workforce survey in the West Midlands: (1) Current work profiles and patterns. *Pharmaceutical Journal* 263:909-913.
- Blenkinsopp, A., Boardman, H., Jesson, J. and Wilson, K. 2001. A pharmacy workforce in the West Midlands: (3) Primary care pharmacists. *Pharmaceutical Journal* 266:684-687.

Boardman, H., Blenkinsopp, A., Jesson, J. and Wilson, K. 2000. A pharmacy workforce survey in the West Midlands: (2) Changes made and planned for the future. *Pharmaceutical Journal* 264:105-108.

- Bradshaw, P. 1999. A service in crisis? Reflections of the shortage of nurses in the British National Health Service. *Journal of Nursing Management* 1(3):23-132
- Buchan, J., Seccombe, I. and Smith, G. 1998. *Nurses Work: an analysis of the UK nursing labour market*. Aldershot: Ashgate.

Buchan, J. and Thomas, S. 1995. Profiling 'flexible' nursing staff: bank nurses in Scotland. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 32:288-300.

- Card, D. 1995. The wage curve: a review. *Journal of Economic Literature* 33: 785-99.
- Carr-Hill, R. and Jenkins-Clarke, S. 2003. *Improving the Effectiveness of the Nursing Workforce*. York: Centre for Health Economics, University of York.
- Case, .J, Mowry, M. and Welebob, E. 2002. The nursing shortage: can technology help? *iHealthreports*. Oakland, CA: California HealthCare Foundation.
- Cherry, C. and Anderson, S. 2002. *Refreshing the National Listening Exercise: Report of the findings.* London: National Co-ordinating Centre for the NHS R&D Service Delivery and Organisation Programme. Available online from www.sdo.lshtm.ac.uk/pdf/rnle_report.pdf
- Clarke, M. and Oxman, A.D. (Eds). 2003. Cochrane Reviewers' Handbook 4.2.0 [updated March 2003]. In *The Cochrane Library Issue 2*. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Cole, A. 2001. Breaking the bank. Health Service Journal 111:22-24.
- Cole, A. 2002. Further to fall. Health Service Journal 112:28-31.
- Collier, J. 2002. Wish you were here. Nursing Standard 16:20-21.
- Davidson, J.M., Lambert, T.W., Parkhouse, J., Evans, J. and Goldacre M.J. 2001. Retirement intentions of doctors who qualified in the United Kingdom in 1974: postal questionnaire survey. *Journal of Public Health Medicine* 23:323-328.
- Davies, H.T.O. and Harrison, S. 2003. Trends in doctor-manager relationships. *British Medical Journal* 326:646-649.
- Department of Health. 2000. *The NHS Plan: A plan for investment a plan for reform.* London: The Stationery Office.

- Department of Health. 2002. *Department of Health Vacancies Survey*. London: NHS Information Centre. Available online from www.ic.nhs.uk/pubs/nhsvacancysurvey
- Department of Health. 2003a. *Agenda for Change: Proposed agreement for modern pay and conditions for NHS staff.* London: Department of Health.
- Department of Health. 2003b. *Care Homes for Adults (18-65) and Supplementary Standards for Care Homes Accommodating Young People aged 16 and 17: National minimum standards*. London: The Stationery Office.
- Dickson, P., Greasley, P. and Small, N. 2002. The Bradford salaried non-principal scheme: addressing the problems of GP recruitment and retention in the inner city: it's not just the money but the support. *Primary Health Care Research and Development* 3:85-95.
- Duffin, C. 2001. A bitter sweet pill. Nursing Standard 16:12-13.
- Duguid, B. 2000. The deals on the bus go round and round... encouraging trained nursing staff to return to work in the NHS. *Health Service Journal* 110:28-29.
- Duranton, G. and Monastiriotis, V. 2002. Mind the gaps: the evolution of area earnings inequality in the UK, 1982-1977. *Journal of Regional Science* 42:212-256.
- Elliott, R.F., McDonald, D. and MacIver, R. 1996. *Local Government Finance: Review of the area cost adjustment. Report to the Department of Environment.* Aberdeen: University of Aberdeen.
- Finlayson, B., Dixon, J., Meadows, S. and Blair, G. 2002. Mind the gap: the extent of the NHS nursing shortage. *British Medical Journal* 325:538-541.
- Finlayson, B. 2002. *Counting the Smiles: Morale and motivation in the NHS*. London: King's Fund.
- Gray, A.M. and Phillips, V.L. 1995. Recruitment and retention: what can the NHS learn from other employers? *Health Services Management Research* 8:38-46.
- Gray, A.M. and Phillips, V.L. 1996. Labour turnover in the British National Health Service: a local labour market analysis. *Health Policy* 36:273-289.
- Grimshaw, D. 2000. The problem with pay flexibility: changing pay practices in the UK health sector. *International Journal of Human Resource Management* 11(5): 943-966.
- HM Treasury. 2003. *Budget Report 2003: Building a Britain of economic strength and social justice*. London: HM Treasury.
- Holmas, T.H. 2002. Keeping nurses at work: a duration analysis. *Health Economics* 11: 493-503.
- Incomes Data Services. 2002. *Pay Differentiation Practice in UK Organisations. A research report by IDS for the Office of Manpower Economics.* London: Incomes Data Services.

- Johnson, F. 2000. Blanket coverage... an annualised hours contract for some of the nursing staff. *Health Service Journal* 110:32.
- Leese, B., Young, R. and Sibbald, B. 2002. Recruitment and retention of general practitioners in England: a survey of health authorities and directors of postgraduate GP education. *Primary Health Care Research and Development* 3:43-51.
- Lipley, N. 1999. Staying power. Nursing Standard 14:13.
- London Weighting Advisory Panel. 2002. *Report of the London Weighting Advisory Panel*. London: Greater London Assembly.
- Lyall, J. 1992, Warrington: a star in the world of caring for staff. *Health Manpower Management* 18:8-9.
- Ma, A., Roberts, E., Elliott, R.F., Bell, D.N.F. and Scott, A. 2003. Comparing the NES and LFS: An analysis of the differences between the data sets and their implications for the pattern of geographical pay in the UK. Aberdeen: Department of Economics, University of Aberdeen,
- Margallo-Lana, M,. Reichelt, K., Hayes, P., Lee, L., Fossey, J., O'Brien, J. *et al.* 2001. Longitudinal comparison of depression, coping, and turnover among NHS and private sector staff caring for people with dementia. *British Medical Journal* 322:769-770.
- Meadows, S., Levenson, R. and Baeza, J. 2000. *The Last Straw: Explaining the NHS nursing shortage*. London: King's Fund.
- Metcalf, D., Charlwood, A. and Hansen, S. 2001. Unions and the sword of justice. *National Institute Economic Review* 176:61-76.
- Millward, N,. Bryson, A. and Forth, J. 2000. *All Change at Work?: British Employment Relations 1980-98.* London: Routledge.
- Morris, S. 2002. An economic analysis of nurses' earnings in Great Britain. Unpublished PhD. City University.
- Newman, K., Maylor, U. and Chansarkar, B. 2002. 'The nurse satisfaction, service quality and nurse retention chain': implications for management of recruitment and retention. *Journal of Management in Medicine* 16:271-291.
- O'Kell, S. 2002. Care staff recruitment and retention: what is happening in the independent care sector? *Housing Care Support* 5:21-24.
- Reilly, B. 1992. An analysis of local labour market pay differentials. *Regional Studies* 26:257-64.
- Rice, N. 2003. *The Labour Supply of Nurses in the UK: Evidence from the British Household Panel Survey. Working paper.* York: Centre for Health Economics, University of York.
- Richards, G. 1998. Working knowledge. *Health Service Journal* 108:30-31.
- Ryrie, I., Williams, H., Wamsley, R. and Dwyer, J. 2000. Basic grade occupational therapists: a descriptive evaluation of a community

rotation scheme. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy* 63:399-404.

- Scott, D. 2000. NHS hospital staffing: Status quo or ebb and flow? *Hospital Pharmacist* 9:200-203.
- Scott, J. 2002. Management retention in the NHS. *Journal of Management in Medicine* 16:292-302.
- Shah, A. and Walker, M. 1983. The distribution of regional earnings in the UK. *Applied Economics* 15:507-19.
- Shields, M. and Ward, M. 2001. Improving nurse retention in the National Health Service in England: The impact of job satisfaction on intentions to quit. *Journal of Health Economics* 20:677-701.
- Skatun, D., Antonazzo, E., Scott, A. and Elliott, R. 2002. *Attracting Qualified Nurses Back into Nursing: an econometric analysis of Iabour supply. Working paper.* Aberdeen: University of Aberdeen
- Turner, T. 1994. Clearing the way to success. *Health Service Journal* 104:16.
- Wanless, D. 2002. *Securing our Future Health: Taking a long-term view* London: HM Treasury.
- Watkins, J. 2002. A healthy interest. People Management 8:48-49.
- Wilson, R., Davies, R., Green, A., Owen, D. and Elias, P. 2001. *Spatial Variations in Labour Costs: 2001 review of the staff market forces factor*. Warwick: Institute for Employment Research, University of Warwick.
- Worby, P. and McGouran, V. 1999. Something to write home about. *Health Service Journal* 109:29.

Section 8 Bibliography

This section details publications that informed the study but which are not referenced in the main report.

Arnold J, Loan-Clarke J, Coombs C, Park J, Wilkinson A, Preston D. Looking Good? The attractiveness of the NHS as an employer to potential nursing and allied health profession staff. Executive summary. Loughborough: Loughborough University Business School. 2003

- Arrowsmith, J., French, S., Gilman, M. and Richardson, R. 2001. Performance-related pay in health care. *Journal of Health Services and Research Policy* 6:114-119.
- Atherton, S. and Murray, J. 1998. Bend it. *Health Service Journal* 108:26-28.
- Audit Commission. 2002. *A Focus on General Practice in England*. London: Audit Commission.
- Audit Commission. 2002. *Medical Staffing. Acute hospital portfolio review of national findings. No.8.* London: Audit Commission.
- Baugh, J. 2002. Counting the cost of living. *Health Service Report* 34:2-6.
- Bellemore, F.A. 1998. Temporary employment decisions of registered nurses. *Eastern Economic Journal* 24:265-279.
- Bellingham, C. 2001. Facing the recruitment and retention crisis in pharmacy: looking abroad. *Pharmaceutical Journal* 267:45-46.
- Bender, K.A. and Elliott, R.F. 2003. *Decentralised Pay Setting: A study of the outcomes of collective bargaining reform in the civil service in Australia, Sweden and the UK*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Biles, B., Nicholas, L.N. and Burke, R. 2003. *Quality, Staffing and Payment of Nursing Homes: current evidence and the next steps. Final report.* Washington DC: Center for Health Services Research and Policy, George Washington University.
- Black, J. 1997. Why do young doctors leave the profession? *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 90:585.
- Blomfield, R. and Horne, C. 2001. Returning to work: nurses' experiences surveyed. *British Journal of Health Care Management* 7:25-30.
- Brooks, I. and Swailes, S. 2002. Analysis of the relationship between nurse influences over flexible working and commitment to nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 38:117-126.
- Buchan, J. 1994. Lessons from America? US magnet hospitals and their implications for UK nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 19:373-384.

- Buchan, J. 1995. Working on the bank: why do nurses do it? *Nursing Standard* 9:33.
- Buchan, J. 2001. Nurse recruitment. Going places. *Health Service Journal* 112:22-24.
- Buchan, J. 2002. Going places. Health Service Journal 112:22-24.
- Buchan, J., Finlayson, B. and Gough, P. 2002. *In Capital Health? Meeting the challenges of London's health care workforce.* London: King's Fund.
- Buchan, J., Finlayson, B. and Gough, P. 2003. *In Capital Health? Creative solutions to London's NHS workforce challenges.* London: King's Fund.
- Buchan, J. and Seccombe, I. 2003. *More Nurses, Working Differently? A review of the UK nursing labour market 2002 to 2003.* London: Royal College of Nursing.
- Buchan, J. and Thompson, M. 1997. Recruiting, retaining and motivating nursing staff: the use of clinical ladders. *IES Report No.339.* Brighton: Institute for Employment Studies.
- Burge, P. 2003. *Recruiting Dietetic Assistants A Review of Current Practice and Recommendations for Future Policy*. London: The British Dietetics Association. 2003.
- Burr, S. 2002. Low pay still driving physios away from the NHS. *Physiotherapy Frontline* 8:6.
- Callaghan, M. 2003. Nursing morale: what is it like and why? *Journal* of Advanced Nursing 42:82-89.
- Cantor, J. 1997. Why do young doctors leave the profession?. *Journal* of the Royal Society of Medicine 90:585.
- Care home staff 'quit to work in supermarkets'. 2001. *Nursing Times* 97:8.
- Cole, A. 1997. It's good to talk. *Health Management* 1:14-16.
- Coombes, R. 2000. Because you're worth it. Nursing Times 96:11-13.
- Coombes, R. 2000. From Asda to roster... how a trust got nurses back into practice. *Nursing Times* 96:13-26.
- Coombs, C., Park, J., Loan-Clarke, J., Arnold, J., Preston, D. and Wilkinson, A. 2001. Who would be a radiographer in the NHS? *Synergy News* August: 12.
- Coombs, C., Park, J., Loan-Clarke, J., Arnold, J., Preston, D. and Wilkinson, A. 2001. The attractiveness of working for the NHS as a radiographer: a review of the literature. *RAD Magazine* 27:67-68.
- Crail, M. 1995. Getting out, getting on. *Health Service Journal* 105:14-15.
- Crouch, D. 2003. As if by magic. Nursing Times 99:21-23.
- Crowe, S. 2002. London PCTs pull out all the stops to prevent GP brain drain. *Primary Care Report* 4:14-15.

- Davis, J. 1997. Why do young doctors leave the profession? *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 90:585.
- Deeming, C. 2002. Nurse vacancies. Health Service Journal 112:36.
- Degeling, P., Maxwell, S., Kennedy, J. and Coyle, B. 2003. Medicine, management, and modernisation: a 'danse macabre'? *British Medical Journal* 326:649-652.
- Department of Health. 1997. Frank Dobson scraps local pay for nurses; calls for revised pay system. *Press Release 97/99* (19 May 1997). London: Department of Health.
- Department of Health. 2001. NHS professionals: flexible organisations, flexible staff. *Department of Health Circular* [HSC 2001/02]. Leeds: Department of Health.
- Department of Health. 2002. *Improving Working Lives for the Allied Health Professions and Healthcare Scientists*. London. Department of Health.
- Dobson, R. 2003. Female hospital doctors find it harder than GPs to balance career and family. British Medical Journal 327:250.
- Durand, M. and Randhawa, G. 1999. 'Flexibility please.' Nurses returning to practice. *IHSR Report 502*. Luton: Institute for Health Services Research, University of Luton.
- Durand, M. and Randhawa, G. 2002. Nurses' views about returning to practice after a career break. *British Journal of Nursing* 11:477-485.
- Dye, J. and Gajewska, V. 2001. Meeting the needs of non-UK trained European physiotherapists seeking employment within the United Kingdom. *Physiotherapy* 87:424-432.
- Evans, J., Goldacre, M. and Lambert, T. 2000. Views of UK medical graduates about flexible and part-time working in medicine: a qualitative study. *Medical Education* 34:355-362.
- Farling, P.A. 2003. The neuroanaesthesia workforce in Great Britain and Ireland. *Anaesthesia* 58(1):17-23.
- Ferguson, M. and Rugg, S. 2000. Advertising for and recruiting basic grade occupational therapists in the United Kingdom. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy* 63:583-590.
- Field, A. 1999. Nursing recruitment. Starters' orders. *Health Service Journal* 109:26-27.
- Future imperfect: King's Fund inquiry report on recruitment and retention of staff in 2001. 2002. *Housing Care Support* 5:18-20.
- Hancock, P. and Hopkins, S. 2002. International recruitment: quick fix or long-term investment? *Nursing Management* 15-19.
- Hardill, I. and MacDonald, S. 2000. Skilled International Migration: The Experience of Nurses in the UK. *Regional Studies* 34:681-692.

- Harvey, J., Davison, H. and Bichovsky, H. 1998. Improving the recruitment and retention of doctors. *British Medical Journal* 316:2.
- Harvey, J., Seeley, S., Bichovsky, H. and Winsland, J. 1996. Project has been set up to explore ways of preventing wastage of doctors. *British Medical Journal* 313:491.
- Hassell K. 2002. Make pharmacy an attractive profession to step into. *Primary Care Report* 4:8-9.
- Hobden, J. 2000. Counting the capital cost. *Physiotherapy Frontline* 6:16-17.
- Humphrey, C., Ehrich, K., Kelly, B., Sandall, J., Redfern, S. and Morgan, M. 2003. Human resources policies and continuity of care. *Journal of Health Organization and Management* 17:102-121.
- Hunter, E. and Nicol, M. 2002. Systematic review: evidence of the value of continuing professional development to enhance recruitment and retention of occupational therapists in mental health. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy* 65:207-215.
- Incomes Data Services. 1998. *Pay Systems and Pay Structures and the Relationship to Low Pay. A research paper for the Low Pay Commission*. London: Incomes Data Services.
- Incomes Data Services. 2001. Employee attitude surveys. *IDS Studies Plus Winter 2001*. London: Incomes Data Services.
- Income Data Services. 2001. Public sector driving up lowest grade rates. *IDS Report 835* p2. London. Incomes Data Services.
- Incomes Data Services. 2002. What are the reasons for seeking longterm pay settlements? *IDS Report 864* p2. London: Incomes Data Services.
- Incomes Data Services. 2002. Why do key public sector jobs have widely different earnings patterns? *IDS Report 860* pp2-3. London. Incomes Data Services.
- Incomes Data Services. 2003. Chancellor advocates regional pay within national frameworks. *IDS Report 884* p2. London. Incomes Data Services.
- Incomes Data Services. 2003. Fresh thinking emerges on London allowances. *IDS Report 876* p2. London: Incomes Data Services.
- Incomes Data Services. 2003. Job evaluation is alive and well despite market-driven pay. *IDS Report 875* p2. London: Incomes Data Services.
- Incomes Data Services. 2003. *Pay in Public Services 2002/03*. London: Incomes Data Services.
- Incomes Data Services. 2003. What are the implications of the proposed regional inflation data? *IDS Report 880* p2. London: Incomes Data Services.

- Johnston, P.W. and Milne, G.D. 1999. A survey of factors affecting the recruitment and retention of medical laboratory scientific officers in pathology. *Health Bulletin* 57:393-398.
- Kendall, L. and Lissauer, R. 2003. *The Future Health Worker*. London: Institute for Public Policy Research.
- King's Fund. 2002. *The NHS Workforce. King's Fund Key Issue Factsheet*. London, King's Fund.
- Laing and Buisson. 2001. *Flexible Staffing Services in the UK Health and Care Markets 2001*. London: Laing and Buisson Publications.
- Langridge, C. 1999. Women in the NHS. Leaving the laurels behind. *Health Service Journal* 109:22-23.
- Legge, A. 2000. Retire and return. Nursing Times 96:26-27.
- Lovegrove, M.J. and Price, R.C. 2002. Recruitment, training and retention of healthcare professionals in clinical ultrasound (April 2001 December 2002). *Radiography* 8:211-214.
- McGouran, V. 2003. Back in the fold. Health Service Journal 13: 30-31.
- Meadows, S. 2002. *Great to be Grey: How can the NHS recruit and retain more older staff?* London: King's Fund.
- Medical Workforce Standing Advisory Committee. 1997. *Planning the Medical Workforce. Third Report.* London: Department of Health.
- Millar, B. 1996. I got out of the NHS but now I'm back. *Health Service Journal* 106:22-25.
- Mulholland, H. 2002. Midwives jump ship to nursing...recruitment and retention. *Nursing Times* 98:7.
- Murrells, T. and Robinson, S. 1999. Phase 1 of a longitudinal study of mental health nurses' careers: Exploring relationships between profiles, course perceptions and plans to work in the NHS. *Journal of Mental Health* 8:55-68.
- Nazarko, L. 1997. The nursing home market. *Nursing Management* 93:26-29.
- New Scottish nurses tempted by south... recruitment. 2000. *Nursing Times* 97:13.
- Newman, G. 2001. Can the NHS hold on to new PAM graduates? British Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation 8:365.
- NHS Executive. 2000. *Recruiting and Retaining Nurses, Midwives and Health Visitors in the NHS a Progress Report*. London: Department of Health.
- Osborne, S. 2003. Hospital staffing. Vacant possession. *Health Service Journal* 113:24-25.
- Paice, E. 1997. Why do young doctors leave the profession?[comment]. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 90:417-418.
- Parkhouse, J. and Lambert, T. 1997. Home, training and work: mobility of British doctors. *Medical Education* 31:399-407.

- Part-time returners are blocked from promotion. 2003. *Nursing Standard* 17:31.
- Payne, D. 1995. Outside interests... according to figures based on the 1991 census, one in three trained nurses have quit the NHS, either because of family commitments or to pursue careers elsewhere. *Nursing Times* 91:18-12.

Raghuram, P. and Kofman, E. 2002. The state, skilled labour markets and immigration: the case of doctors in England. *Environment and Planning A* 34:2071-2089.

Randhawa, G. and Durand, M. 1999. Return ticket. *Nursing Standard* 14:26-27.

Recruitment, retention and return in the NHS - still an uphill climb. 2001. *Health Service Report* 32:2-9.

Review Body for Nursing Staff, Midwives, Health Visitors and Professions Allied to Medicine. 2002. *Nineteenth Report on Professions Allied to Medicine*. London: The Stationery Office.

- Review Body on Doctors and Dentists Remuneration. 2002. Thirty First Report 2002. London: The Stationery Office.
- Robinson, F. 2003. Leaving London for the northern lights. *Hospital Doctor* 22-24.

Robinson, J. 2002. *Unfinished Business. Is a crisis in care still looming*? London: King's Fund.

- Rosen, S. 1986. The theory of equalising differences. In Ashenfelter,O. and Layard, R. (Eds). *Handbook of Labor Economics* 1: 641-692. Holland: Elsevier Science Publishers.
- Royal College of Radiologists. 2002. *Clinical Radiology: A workforce in crisis.* London: The Royal College of Radiologists.
- Royal College of Radiologists. 2002. *Extended Working in Clinical Radiology*. London: The Royal College of Radiologists.
- Rugg, S. 1999. Factors influencing junior occupational therapists' continuity of employment: a review of the literature. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy* 62:151-156.
- Rugg, S. 1999. Junior occupational therapists' continuity of employment: what influences success? *Occupational Therapy International* 6:277-297.
- Sadler, C. 1999. Many happy returns. Nursing Standard 13:17-19.
- Scottish Medical and Scientific Advisory Committee. 2001. *The Recruitment, Training and Retention of Medical Laboratory Scientific Officers*. Edinburgh. Scottish Executive Health Department.
- Seago, J.A. 2001. Hospital registered nurse shortages: environmental, patient, and institutional predictors. *Health Services Research* 36:831-852.
- Snell, J. 1999. That was then, this is now. *Health Service Journal* 109:24-27.

- Staff shortages force thousands to take sickies. 2002. *Nursing Times* 98:8.
- Staiger, D., Spetz, J. and Phibbs, C. 1999. *Is there monopsony in the labor market? Evidence from a natural experiment. NEBR Working Paper No.7258.* Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Sutcliffe, P. 1992. The occupational therapy labour market, Part I: making use of trained personnel. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy* 55:13-18.
- Taylor, D.H. Jr. and Leese, B. 1998. General practitioner turnover and migration in England 1990-94. *British Journal of General Practice* 48:1070-1072.
- Training costs are keeping Scots out... return to practice. 2001. Nursing Times 97:6.
- Vickery, D.S., Bodiwala, G.G., Evans, J., Lambert, T., Goldacre, M., Davidson, J.M. *et al.* 2002. Senior house officer withdrawals from hospital posts: a questionnaire survey. *Emergency Medicine Journal* 19: 308-310.
- Waters, A. 2002. Where the grass is greener. *Nursing Standard* 17:14-16.
- Whitfield, L. 2002. A workplace in the sun. *Health Service Journal* 112:16.
- Whittock, M. and Laurence, L. 2003. Stepping outside the stereotype. A pilot study of the motivations and experiences pf males in the nursing profession. *Journal of Nursing Management* 11:242-249.
- Wright, D., Walls, J. and Woodford, K. 2000. A credit to us all. *Health Service Journal* 110:30-31.
- Young, R. and Leese, B. 1999. Recruitment and retention of general practitioners in the UK: what are the problems and solution? *British Journal of General Practice* 49:829-833.

Appendices

Appendix 1 Semi-structured interview schedule

- 1 Ask permission to tape the interview
 - responses will be anonymous and quotes will not be attributed to you.
- 2 Describe background to project
 - aims, objectives outputs.
- Confirm vacancy information we used to select you.how does this data correspond with your trusts experience?
- 4 Confirm understanding of the NHS trust structure.
- 5 Before we examine the experience of the different staff groups you employ I should like to ask you about your understanding of the linkages between the labour market and service delivery. How in your view does the labour market affect service delivery?
- 6 What are the main issues in service delivery for your trust We'd now like to ask about specific groups of staff.

Doctor

- 7 Vacancy data reveal for this group
 - are there any differences across specialties why? (Is it determined by the nature of specialist training? What determines the number of specialists in training?)
 - any differences between trusts in this area why?
 - are there persistent or hard to fill vacancies why?
- 8 What steps are being taken to fill these vacancies?
 - recruitment retention initiatives / local-national-international markets.
- 9 What is the effect on service delivery in the short and longer term?
- 10 Where do most doctors come from in the region?- do locally trained doctors return to the region at some point?
- 11 What private sector opportunities exist locally for doctors?
- 12 How does the private sector influence the supply of sessions to the NHS?
- 13 How effectively does the NHS compete with the private sector?
 - what is it about NHS employment that is more/less attractive compared to the private sector (pay, hours, terms and conditions)?

Nurses

- 14 Vacancy data reveal for this group. Tell us what you know about the nature of vacancies for nurses:
 - are there any differences across specialties why?
 - any differences across trusts why?
 - are they persistent or hard to fill?
- 15 What steps are being taken to fill these vacancies?
 - recruitment retention initiatives / local-national-international markets.
- 16 What is the effect on service delivery in the short and longer term?
- 17 What other employment opportunities exist outside of the NHS?
- 18 How effectively does the NHS compete with other employers?
 - what is it about NHS employment that is more/less attractive compared to the private sector (pay, hours, terms and conditions).

Other staff groups

- 19 Are there other staff groups where local labour market issues are affecting service delivery?
- 20 What would enable the NHS to be more responsive to changes in local labour market conditions, and for it to compete more effectively for staff.
- 21 What in your view are the main workforce issues that require further research?
 - information deficiencies (e.g. vacancy data)
 - gaps in knowledge (e.g. determinants of medical vacancies).

Appendix 2 Examples of individual bibliographic database search strategies

Main search strategy

MEDLINE (Ovid)

- 1 exp Health Personnel/
- 2 exp Health Occupations/
- 3 1 or 2
- 4 Personnel Turnover/
- 5 Personnel Loyalty/
- 6 labo#r market\$.tw
- 7 labo#r supply.tw
- 8 (recruitment adj3 retention).tw
- 9 or/4-8
- 10 exp Great Britain/
- 11 united kingdom.tw
- 12 uk.tw
- 13 britain.tw
- 14 british.tw
- 15 national health service.tw
- 16 nhs.tw
- 17 or/10-16
- 18 3 and 9 and 17
- 19 limit 18 to yr=1992-2003

Social Science Citation Index (Web of Science)

(nurse* or doctor* or consultant* or physician* or medical staff or health professional* or health occupation* or NHS staff* or NHS personnel or pharmacist* or technical staff or laboratory staff or scientific staff or ancillary staff or clerical or secretar* or support staff or professions allied to medicine or allied health personnel or allied health occupations* or occupational therap* or physiotherap* or physical therap* or radiograph* or chirop* or podiatr* or dietetics or dietician* or audiolog* or speech therap* or language therap* or optometr* or orthopti* or psycholog* or ancillary) AND (recruitment or retention or supply or turnover or wastage) AND (national health service or nhs or britain or british or uk or united kingdom or scotland or england or wales)

Additional search strategy

Social Science Citation Index (Web of Science)

private and (pay or remuneration or salar* or wage* or labour market or labour supply or turnover or wastage or recruitment or retention) and (uk or united kingdom or britain or british or england or scotland or wales)

EconLIT (Cambridge Scientific Abstracts)

(((private sector or private employ*) AND (pay or remuneration or salar* or wage* or labo?r market or labo?r supply or turnover or wastage or recruitment or retention))) AND (DE = ((u.k.)))

Appendix 3 Literature reviewed

No.	Author(s)	Criteria addressed	Study design	Sample size	Setting	Aim of paper	Main results
Nurs	es and midwi	ves					
1	Carr-Hill and Jenkins- Clarke (2003)	1, 2	Short, quantitative report	30 nurses	Hospitals in the UK	Set out key findings and implications from an analysis of the activity and workload of nurses of different grades. To develop appropriate and relevant strategies for changing skill mixes in terms of balance of staff groups deployed.	Differences in staffing levels between hospitals suggest that there is potential for efficiency gains in some hospitals.
2	Finlayson <i>et al.</i> (2002)	1	BMJ qualitative article	Number of nurses not specified	NHS in England	Assess the extent of recruitment and retention problems in nursing in England	The serious problems facing acute trusts in England in retaining and recruiting nurses result in high financial costs and low morale and may affect patient care
3	Aiken <i>et al.</i> (2002)	1	Qualitative article	10 319	Adult acute care hospitals in USA, Canada, England,S cotland	To examine the effects of nurse staffing and organisational support for nursing care on nurses' dissatisfaction with their jobs, nurse burnout, and nurse reports of quality of patient care in an international sample of hospitals.	Adequate nurse staffing and organisational/managerial support for nursing are key to improving the quality of patient care, to diminishing nurse job dissatisfaction and burnout and, ultimately, to improving the nurse retention problem in hospital settings

No.	Author(s)	Criteria addressed	Study design	Sample size	Setting	Aim of paper	Main results
4	Duguid (2000)	3	Qualitative article	15 NHS trusts and 3 health authorities	NHS in England	Evaluating the outcome of trusts' imaginative attempt to encourage former NHS nurses to return to work	The campaign seemed very attractive to the media and provided a relaxing ambience for people who were unsure about returning but wanted to discuss options in a non- institutional environment. The campaign also showed a more human face than the NHS sometimes displays and it could be replicated successfully in other parts of the country.
5	Cole (2002)	1	Qualitative article		Nurse banks	Reviewing the trend of nurses working exclusively for agencies, as opposed to working directly for the NHS	Perhaps the most significant move has been the launch of NHS Professionals, a new NHS-run agency to offer nurses the flexibility of agency nursing combined with the security and development opportunities offered by the NHS.
6	Worby and McGouran (1999)	3	Qualitative article	1 hospital trust	King's Lynn and Wisbech Hospital Trusts	Report on one trust's set up of a recruitment drive offering a range of training and work opportunities	The campaign has been successful recruitment drive for the trust. It has also been very interesting, educational and rewarding for all those involved
7	Turner T (1994)	3	Qualitative article	1 trust	Taunton and Somerset NHS trust	An evaluation of a cost-cutting scheme set up at the trust which is saving thousands of pounds a year and at same time building direct links with potential employees and the college that trains them	Both nurses and managers welcome the scheme

No.	Author(s)	Criteria addressed	Study design	Sample size	Setting	Aim of paper	Main results
8	Baker <i>et al.</i> (2001)	3	Qualitative article	1 nursing home	Pendine Park Nursing Home	Describes an innovative approach to tackling the issues of recruitment, retention and provision of quality care, currently faced by nursing and residential homes in the independent sector	The introduction of innovative practice and the provision of complex and demanding care through a loyal and caring workforce will enhance the profile of the independent sector
9	Collier (2002)	3	Qualitative article	1 trust	Aberdeen Royal Infirmary	Looks at a local strategy to boost retention, in which nurses are allowed to go temporarily	Efforts are considered to have been worthwhile. Other nurse managers should consider the idea of unpaid sabbaticals for staff as a tool to aid better recruitment and retention of staff
10	Lipley (1999)	3	Qualitative article	2 trusts	Royal Hull Hospitals NHS Trust and Humbers- ide Trust	Some trusts' experiences with overseas recruitment of nurses	Well planned induction courses, good mentorship and career paths seem to make overseas recruiting a success
11	Margallo- Lana <i>et al.</i> (2001)	1	Qualitative report	13 healthcare facilities	9 private facilities and 4 NHS facilities	Longitudinal comparison of depression, coping and turnover among NHS and private sector staff caring for people with dementia	The assumption that stress is an important factor in the high turnover of professional carers seems to be unfounded. Promotion of better links between the NHS and private sector could increase stability and allow efficient delivery of training programmes and the development of mutually supportive staff groups

No.	Author(s)	Criteria addressed	Study design	Sample size	Setting	Aim of paper	Main results
12	Johnson (2000)	3	Qualitative article	1 hospital	Stepping Hill Hospital, Stockport	Evaluation of hospital's scheme to pilot an annualised hours contract for some of the nursing staff recruited to the medical directorate	A flexible approach to contracts has enabled the hospital to cope with winter demand and given nursing staff a welcome opportunity to rejoin the workforce
13	Newman <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2002)	1	Qualitative article	130 nurses and midwives	4 London trust Hospitals	Presents findings of a qualitative study, based on interviews with over 130 nurses and midwives in four London trust hospitals on: the main factors influencing nurse satisfaction and retention, empirical support for the robustness of a conceptual framework or model, 'the nurse satisfaction, service quality and nurse retention chain'; and managerial considerations for recruitment and retention	For recruitment and retention, improving the image and reputation of nursing along with improvements in work-life balance were pre- requisites for meeting the challenging target of an additional 20,000 nurses on the wards by 2004
14	Buchan and Thomas (1995)	1	Qualitative article	203 bank nurses	3 NHS nurse banks in Scotland	Reports on a survey of nurses working on three nurse banks in the NHS in Scotland	No standard model of a nurse bank in the NHS in Scotland and no standard profile of bank nurses
15	Buchan <i>et</i> <i>al</i> . (1998)	1	Book	Various sources		Nurses' work: an analysis of the UK nursing labour market	Despite its size and importance, the characteristics and motivation of the individuals comprising the nursing workforce are often misunderstood or misinterpreted. The nurse labour force is a national asset and it requires and deserves sustained national policy attention

No.	Author(s)	Criteria addressed	Study design	Sample size	Setting	Aim of paper	Main results
16	Accounts Commission for Scotland (2000)	3	Long, qualitative report	Survey of 35 trusts (before reorganisa- tion)	NHS Scotland	Reporting key findings of the Accounts Commission's review of the use of bank and agency nursing staff in Scotland	Trusts will always rely on bank and agency nursing staff to some extent to fill unforeseen staffing gaps, but these staff should not be the first option considered. The challenge for trusts is to ensure that the quality of patient care is maintained, even during periods of staffing shortages
18	Shields and Ward (2001)	3	Empirical study	9,625	Nurses in England in 1994	To investigate the impact of job satisfaction on nurses intentions to quit	Nurses who report overall dissatisfaction with their jobs are more likely to intend to quit. Controls for, but does not report regional variations in job satisfaction
19	Askildsen, Baltagi and Holmas (2003)	5	Empirical study	18,066 individuals	Nurses in Norway 1993-98	Estimates the responsiveness of nurses' labour supply to changes in nurses pay.	Reveals a low overall wage elasticity with substantial regional variation
20	Holmas (2002)	5	Empirical study	5,284	Nurses in Norway 1993	To examine the determinants of the exit rate from employment in the public health sector	Both wages and working conditions affect nurse turnover. The geographical location of the hospital has an impact on the relationship between working conditions and turnover
21	Morris (2002)	5	Empirical study	171 881 16-60 yr old women	UK 1997- 2002	To analyse determinants of qualified nurses' pay and compare these to the pay structure of other non- manual employees	Little regional variation in nurses' pay outside London.
No.	Author(s)	Criteria	Study	Sample	Setting	Aim of paper	Main results

		addressed	design	size			
22	Rice (2003)	5	Empirical study	524 women employed as a nurse during period	UK 1991- 1999	To investigate the determinants of the labour supply of nurses	Finds a low wage elasticity of hours of work. Tests for regional differences and reveals no significant effects
23	Skatun, Antonazzo, Scott and Elliott (2003)	5	Empirical study	1285 married or co-habiting women	UK 1999- 2000	To estimate a model of labour supply for married and co-habiting nurses	Finds a low wage elasticity of hours of work. Finds significant regional differences remain after controlling for large numbers of household and individual characteristics
Doct	ors and GPs						
1	Beedham (1996)	1	Qualitative article			Attempts to quantify the problem, the trends and the reasons why young doctors are leaving medicine	Some left because they entered medicine for inappropriate or emotional reasons. Others had inadequate preparation, lacked professional or pastoral support, or experienced stagnant, unstructured career. Probably a few doctors will always leave medicine permanently but a larger group will return more readily if appropriate re-entry programmes are available
2	Davidson <i>et al.</i> (2001)	1	Qualitative article	1717 doctors	UK	To provide systematic information about doctors' retirement intentions	The impact of early retirement on medical workforce supply may be considerable, hence approaches to retirement policy need to shift away from the extremes of either full time employment or total retirement.
No.	Author(s)	Criteria	Study	Sample	Setting	Aim of paper	Main results

		addressed	design	size			
3	Davies and Harrison (2003)	1	Qualitative article	Review of international developments, pre-existing reviews of changes in the NHS doctor- manager relationship and a range of empirical studies.		Summarises the doctor-manager relationship in the UK and in particular how much this relationship has been shaped by the changing structural arrangements from within which healthcare is delivered	Despite the many good reasons that doctors may not wish to be involved in management, and the considerable tensions that arise when they are, further engagement is needed
4	Leese <i>et al.</i> (2002)	3	Qualitative article	73 health authorities	NHS in England	To provide more sophisticated empirical evidence than previously available on the scale and nature of GP recruitment and retention problems, and approaches being developed to address these problems	A greater commitment to long-term strategic planning is required at all levels. Many initiatives remain unco- ordinated and restricted by short- term budgetary constraints
5	Dickson <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2002)	3	Qualitative article	40 health authorities	NHS in England	Review of existing salaried schemes to address recruitment and retention issues, provide higher professional training for GPs and provide care to specific groups, among other objectives	Evaluation of the scheme from the perspective of the salaried GPs (through a focus group) found that the main attractions were the opportunity to gain experience of inner city general practice without the commitment to a partnership, opportunities for professional development and support from the peer group of salaried GPs
No.	Author(s)	Criteria addressed	Study design	Sample size	Setting	Aim of paper	Main results

1	Blenkinsopp <i>et al.</i> (1999)	1	Quantitative article	2568 pharmacists	Those working in the West Midlands	To identify and measure the current working patterns of pharmacists in one geographical region	Pharmacy has a high retention of its workforce within the profession. Pharmacists' choices about when and where to work have significant implications for retention.
2	Boardman <i>et al.</i> (2000)	1	Qualitative article	2568 pharmacists	Those working in the West Midlands	To identify the kinds of changes pharmacists had made to their work in the past three years and those changes that they intended to make in the next three years	If intentions regarding changes to work are implemented there will be significant implications for the pharmacy workforce, particularly for community pharmacy
3	Blenkinsopp <i>et al</i> (1999)	1	Qualitative article	2,568 pharmacists	Those working in the West Midlands	To quantify the extent of current and planned employment of primary care pharmacists (PCPs) and to explore the experiences of PCPs and the perceptions of other pharmacists who aspire to become PCPs	The satisfaction experienced by PCPs appears to offset to some extent the dissatisfaction expressed about traditional pharmacy work in community pharmacy. The high level of interest in PCP work may also be a proxy for pharmacists' dissatisfaction.
4	Scott (2002)	1, 4	Short, qualitative article	Unspecified number of pharmacists	NHS hospitals in the UK	Discusses the current state and trends in hospital recruitment	Staff vacancies in hospital pharmacy are continuing and have a major impact on services to patients; there are also worrying shifts in grade patterns

No. Author(s) Criteria Study Sample Setting Aim of paper Main results addressed design size	No.			e Setting	Aim of paper		
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----	--	--	-----------	--------------	--	--
Othe	er staff						
------	--------------------------------	-----------------------	------------------------	---------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
1	Gray and Phillips (1995)	1	Qualitative paper	Unspecified number of non-clinical staff	NHS and 3 non- health firms	Summary of results of a short survey of recruitment and retention initiatives among businesses in other sectors of the economy which may compete with the NHS for certain categories of labour	Labour management policies need to be placed in a much broader context. Labour supply should be seen in the context in which health care providers ensure that appropriate health care is provided efficiently and effectively.
2	Cole (2002)	1	Qualitative article	Unspecified number of chief executives	NHS	The consequences of attrition rates for chief executives in the NHS	Increased instability at the top is having an impact on recruitment. The level of the current attrition rate portends a very wasteful process.
3	Ryrie <i>et al.</i> (2000)	3	Qualitative article	Occupat- ional therapists	1 inner city NHS trust	Sought to evaluate the basic grade community rotation scheme in terms of the post holder's perceptions	The community rotation scheme has led to the development of autonomous practice and the varied nature of the work. Further work is needed to facilitate the recruitment and retention of current and future practitioners.
4	Richards (1998)	3	Qualitative article	Occupat- ional therapists	1 inner city trust	A survey of what motivates occupational therapists at the Bethlem and Maudsley Trust to stay, in order to inform the trust's retention policy	Improving development opportunities for occupational therapists will encourage a good core of therapists to remain at that grade long enough to consolidate their skills and to develop the confidence and competence to consider applying for senior grades within the trust.
No.	Author(s)	Criteria addressed	Study design	Sample size	Setting	Aim of paper	Main results

No.	Author(s)	Criteria addressed	Study design	Sample size	Setting	Aim of paper	Main results
1	Finlayson B (2002)	1	Literature and series of focus group reviews	Unspecified number of contacts from NHS, Dept of Health and NHS Executive	NHS	To evaluate moral and motivation in the NHS	Too much rapid change and too much political control are demotivating and among reasons people cite for wanting to leave the NHS. Mixed political messages about public service workers need to be replaced by clear support.
All st	taff						
7	Bebbington (1995)	1	Project report	1242 Speech and language therapists	NHS in the UK	Findings of research project funded by Women's Unit and initiated by College of Speech and Language Therapists to study the career paths of people with a speech and language therapy qualification	Experienced therapists are leaving the profession with a corresponding loss of economic resources and professional expertise
6	OʻKell (2002)	1	Qualitative article	Care staff	UK	To provide a snapshot of issues affecting the independent care home sector prior to the introduction of the national minimum standards for care homes in April 2002.	Major issues around recruitment and retention are pay/conditions and job satisfaction. Motivation for care workers to stay in the job depends on good physical working environment, an emphasis on the delivery of high quality care, access to appropriate staff training as well as fair management
5	Davies and Harrison (2003)	1	Qualitative article	Unspecified number of managers and doctors	UK	Summarises UK doctor-manager and how much this relationship has been shaped by the changing structural arrangements from within which healthcare is delivered	Despite many good reasons doctors may not wish to be involved in management, and the considerable tensions that arise when they are, further engagement is needed

2	Gray and Phillips (1996)	1	Qualitative article	All staff - 300 000 employees	103 UK district health authorit- ies	Examines the relationship between staff turnover and a range of labour market, job and worker characteristics	Staff groups of different skill levels each have distinct labour markets, and this needs to be recognised in the future design of human resources management policies
4	Watkins (2002)	3	Qualitative article	All staff	1 hospital NHS trust	Reports Morecambe Bay Hospitals NHS Trust's visit to local schools to gauge children's perceptions of working in the NHS	Participation at the programme was impressive. Quotes include: 'Having attended the course, I can say with confidence that it was a life- changing experience filled with passionate, enthused and determined people who really cared about their parents, careers – and us as well'
5	Lyall (1992)	3	Qualitative article	All staff - 2300 employees	Warring- ton District General Hospital	A report of the STAR ('staff acquisition and retention') initiative launched at Warrington District General Hospital	Staff attitudes to STAR have moved from 'suspicion' to 'overwhelming enthusiasm'
6	Grimshaw (2000)	4	Survey and qualitative analysis	Unspecified number of interviews	UK 1993 and 1994	Explores some of the problems associated with local pay flexibility in the NHS	Local pay structures are less transparent and the overall wage structure may be less coherent and more fragmented

No.	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery
1	Carr-Hill and Jenkins- Clarke (2003)		'While staff are deployed differently to different specialties, there is no apparent flexibility in the deployment of nursing staff in response to variations in patient demand'		
2	Finlayson (2002)	Three sources of low morale (dissatisfaction) are whether staff feel valued, their working environment and pay/resources			
3	Gray and Phillips (1995)	NHS pay system is highly centralised. Review bodies, set national salary scales for most staff groups, making special allowances for differences in the cost of living in different areas. 'Similarly centralised (and inflexible) systems operate in other organisations'. British Rail pay structure is highly centralised; while pay determination in Midland Bank is by far the most flexible among organisations surveyed (NHS, Midland Bank, supermarket chain and British Rail)			

No.	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery
4	Finlayson <i>et al.</i> (2002)	'Almost half of all nurses who leave the NHS remain in nursing, typically in non-NHS nursing posts or general practice nursing' Reasons for retention problems (for nurses) in the NHS include pay and cost of living, the changing nature of the job, perceptions of being valued, career breaks, retirement, maternity leave, nurse education, non-nursing work, travel and other employment opportunities			
5	Blenkinsop p <i>et al.</i> (1999)	Sources of dissatisfaction among pharmacists include consumer expectations, stress and long hours of work			
6	Boardman <i>et al.</i> (2000)	The reason most frequently mentioned for changes made to work plans (quits) was to 'do more interesting work/seek greater job satisfaction			
7	Blenkinsop p <i>et al.</i> (1999/200 1)	Pharmacists' accounts 'indicate that they felt professionally undervalued and saw PCP work as a means of increasing both professional status and job satisfaction'			

No.	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery
8	Beedham (1996)	Young doctors left because they entered for inappropriate or emotional reasons, had inadequate preparation, lacked professional or pastoral support or experienced stagnant, unstructured career			
9	Cole (2002)	Among the major factors for chief executives moving on is pressures of the job which can lead to early burn-out (there are more inspections, more targets to meet, more to be done about security and clinical governance)			
10	Davidson <i>et al.</i> (2001)	Main reasons doctors consider early retirement are to reduce work-related pressure, increase leisure time, job dissatisfaction, disillusionment with NHS and wanting a healthy retirement			
11	Ryrie <i>et al.</i> (2000)			One inner city NHS trusts responded to difficulties in recruiting staff by establishing a community rotation scheme that allowed basic grade occupational therapists to gain experience in a range of community-based posts	
No.	Author	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service

	(year)		delivery
12	Aiken <i>et al.</i> (2002)	Organisational/managerial support for nursing had a pronounced effect on nurse dissatisfaction	
13	Duguid (2000)		Fifteen trusts co-operated in an imaginative attempt to encourage former NHS nurses to return to work, taking approachability and informality as its guiding principles. These 15 trusts came from 3 health authorities in Avon, Gloucestershire and North Wiltshire, and covered areas from Tewkesbury in the north to Shepton Mallet in the south
14	Richards (1998)		'At the Bethlem and Maudsley trust, recruitment strategies had been successful – focusing on advertisements, job rotation schemes and professional development study programmes for new therapists'

No.	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery
15	Cole (2001)	Expenditure on agency nurses is at an all-time high, and increasing numbers of nurses are working exclusively for agencies. Agency nursing offers a flexibility of hours and opportunity that the health service cannot match combined with reduced stress and very good rates of pay			
16	Worby and McGouran (1999)			Faced with a shortage of nurses, the King's Lynn and Wisbech Hospitals trust set up a recruitment drive offering a range of training and work opportunities. The recruitment drive consisted of advertisements in local papers, including several free sheets, and posters sent to every GP surgery and library. The advertisements and posters mentioned the availability of free courses and opportunities for flexible working. A deliberate attempt was made throughout the promotion to appear flexible, friendly and approachable	

No.	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery
17	Turner (1994)			The Taunton and Somerset NHS trust set up a scheme which saved thousands of pounds annually and at the same time built direct links with potential employees and the college that trained them. The scheme was in the form of a six-monthly clearing house for newly trained nurses	
18	Gray and Phillips (1996)	Two local labour market variables were significantly related to turnover across staff groups – the size of the private health care sector and the pay of the staff group relative to the local average for comparable workers. Results indicate that alternative employment opportunities in the private health care sector affect the behaviour of most staff groups Relative pay (the pay of the staff group relative to the local average for comparable workers) is also seen as a significant determinant of staff satisfaction			

No.	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery
19	Baker <i>et al.</i> (2001)			A partnership was formed (under a teaching company scheme) between the Pendine Park Nursing Home and the Centre for Learning Development to develop care pathways that were specific to the independent sectors. The adoption of care pathways could provide an alternative that will promote evidence- based practice, incorporate efficient use of resources, combine the efforts of all ho contribute to the care and include local protocols and guidelines within the company	
20	Watkins (2002)			In 1999 the Morecambe Bay Hospitals NHS Trust visited local schools to gauge and challenge children's' negative perceptions of healthcare as a career. This was in a way to raise the profile of the NHS in the community, 'driven by a concern that declining interest in the profession could affect its future recruitment efforts'.	
No.	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery

5	Davies and	'One reason for the high level of			
No.	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery
24	Margallo- Lana <i>et al.</i> (2001)	Levels of stress in NHS homes were lower than in private facilities, although the difference was not significant			
23	Lyall (1992)			In 1989, the Warrington District General Hospital offered all of its 2,300 employees free annual health checks as part of an award-winning staff benefits scheme which started with a visit to Marks and Spencer. The Staff Acquisition and Retention (STAR) initiative also included free medicals, chiropody, eye testing, a hospital nursery where staff are entitled to reduced fees, a hairdresser and a general shop	
22	Lipley (1999)			Llandough Hospital Community NHS Trust, South Wales, introduced well planned induction course for its 18 newly recruited Filipino nurses	
21	Collier (2002)			Aberdeen Royal Infirmary introduced an innovative strategy to boost nurse retention that allows staff to take sabbaticals	

	Harrison (2003)	doctors' discontent lies in the doctor-manager relationshipsuch discontent reflects international trends that have led to diminished autonomy and a reduced dominance of doctors in health care'			
26	O'Kell (2002)	'O'Kell (2002) found that public services are no longer attractive as a career option to many people. There are better jobs, offering more money, available in other occupational areas, especially in the private sector'			
27	Leese <i>et al.</i> (2002)			31 (44%) and 17 (24%) health authorities reported the use or planned use of schemes which centred on improved training for GP registrars and recently qualified GPs, as part of efforts to ensure adequate workforce of GP principals. A minority of authorities were also actively supporting continuing/refresher education for established principals and induction training for potential returners	
No.	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery
28	Dickson (2002)			One strategy to improve recruitment and retention is salaried GP schemes. These have	

31	Newman <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2002)	Two main sources of job dissatisfaction for nurses were staff shortages (with direct and			
No.	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery
30	Scott (2002)	Poor facilities, excessive demands, long hours and seemingly irrelevant paperwork are recognised as sources of job dissatisfaction among staff in hospital pharmacy			Unpublished Audit Commission (of the Department of Health) surveys showed 'that in any one year, 50 to 60% of hospitals had to refuse services because of staff shortages' indicating 'that the staff shortages have a real impact'
29	Johnson (2000)			The Stepping Hill Hospital in Stockport adopted a flexible contracting approach to cope with winter demand, giving nursing staff an opportunity to rejoin the workforce. The principle was to allow nurses the opportunity to decide when they worked so long as they completed the hours agreed in their contract during the course of a year and gave due consideration to service needs	
				been witnessed in Sunderland, Newcastle, Durham, South London and the North West Region health authorities	

		indirect consequences) and poor management	
32	Duffin (2001)		Cost-of-living supplements paid to NHS staff in areas with high living costs such as Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham Health authority in inner London (who receive the highest allocation), has been criticised for being divisive and discriminatory. For example, there was a drift of nurses from Brighton Health Care NHS Trust in East Sussex (which does not qualify for the supplements) towards neighbouring Worthing in West Sussex (which does)
33	Buchan and Thomas (1995)	A survey of 203 bank nurses revealed high levels of reported dissatisfaction with access to training opportunities	

No.	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery
34	Buchan <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (1998)	Both the NHS (which employs employed approximately half of			
	<i>ai.</i> (1990)	all nurses on the register) and			

		private employers must recruit qualified nurses from the pool of qualified nurses registered with the UKCC. 'In recent years net growth in nursing employment has been accounted for by increased employment in the various non-NHS sectors. Also, a high proportion of NHS leavers go to non-NHS nursing jobs	
35	Accounts Commission for Scotland (2000)		Fife Healthcare Trust used a local employment agency to match demand for bank nurses with supply. Agency is given notice of authorised bank nurses who notify the agency of their availability to work on a weekly basis. Requests for shift cover are passed to the agency which contacts available bank nurses and allocates shifts. Arrangement has saved trust staff considerable effort and time in allocating temporary nurses to shifts. West Lothian, East and Midlothian and the Western General Trusts jointly developed a software package to help manage their nurse banks.

No. 35 continued...

A database was established which contained information regarding availability of each bank nurse, their areas of expertise and qualifications, and

36	Bebbington	The factors influencing			
No.	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery
				nurse bank administrator identifie nurses who had already worked o particular ward. The system updat records when a firm booking was and matched the shift required to staff database. System greatly im the efficiency of the nurse bank operation and offered a wide rang management reports which had previously been unavailable. To overcome staff shortages (and vacancies) in all its departments, Lynn and Wisbech Hospitals Trust launched a recruitment drive to encourage nurses back to work, e advertisements in local papers, m in local radio and television, and p sent to every GP surgery and libra Specific mention was made of the for general, paediatric and mental nurses, and midwives, as well as t availability of free courses and opportunities for flexible working the also mentioned. The trusts felt that offering this range of training and opportunities was successful in addressing its nurse shortages.	n a ted all made the proved e of King's .g. ention posters try. need health the were at

W	Shields and Ward (2001)	Training/promotion opportunities are more important source of dissatisfaction than workload and			
	Author (year)	1 NHS competitiveness	2 Local flexibility	3 Labour market response	4 Impact of service delivery
е	Meadows et al. (2000)	opportunities, dissatisfaction with speech and language therapy, lack of recognition, size of workload and increased demands due to NHS reforms. 'The NHS is generally not seen as an attractive place to work by job seekers (Bradshaw, 1999)' p1. 'The proportion of nurses in the independent sector (acute and nursing homes) rose from 11.5% to 17% between 1990-96. The proportion of newly qualified nurses going straight into the NHS fell from 99% in 1991 to 90% in 1996' p2. There was general dissatisfaction with level of pay, poor working conditions and facilities (leisure and recreation, child care, staff catering, car parking and accommodation), staff shortages (which led to increased workload) and discrimination (particularly racism) in the NHS.			

		рау			
39	Holmas (2002)				
40	Morris (2002)	On average nurses' pay compares favourably to that of other non-manual employees	Little local flexibility. Outside London there is little variation in nurses pay		
41	Rice (2003)		Outside London, no significant variation in the pay of women employed as nurses in Britain		
42	Skatun, Antonazzo, Scott and Elliott (2003))	Reveals some small but significant variations between regions outside London in the level of nurses pay		
43	Grimshaw (2000)		Managers saw local pay setting as an opportunity to move away from national delineation by occupational group and pay band. Local NHS pay bargaining constrained by presence of national pay arrangements and resource implications. Local pay settings had been introduced for unqualified nurses and ancillary staff in most trusts interviewed.	Pay was linked to the local market using a number of different strategies	The impact on service delivery was not recorded

Disclaimer

This report presents independent research commissioned by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the NIHR SDO programme or the Department of Health. The views and opinions expressed by the interviewees in this publication are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the NIHR SDO programme or the Department of Health

Addendum

This document was published by the National Coordinating Centre for the Service Delivery and Organisation (NCCSDO) research programme, managed by the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine.

The management of the Service Delivery and Organisation (SDO) programme has now transferred to the National Institute for Health Research Evaluations, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre (NETSCC) based at the University of Southampton. Prior to April 2009, NETSCC had no involvement in the commissioning or production of this document and therefore we may not be able to comment on the background or technical detail of this document. Should you have any queries please contact sdo@southampton.ac.uk.